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Acknowledgement of Country 
We acknowledge the ti-ac.J1tional custodians of country thmughout 
the South West and recognise their continuing connection to 

lar1d, waters and cu lture. We pay our respects to their Elders past, 

f-l resent ,:ind emerging 

Statement of Compliance 

Message to the Minister 

HonourableAlannah Mac Tiernan MLC 

Minister for Regional Development 

In accordance with Section 63 of the Financial Management 

Act 2006, we hereby submit for your info1·mation and 

presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the South 

West Development Commission, for the financial year 

ended 30 June 2022. At the date of signing, we are not awa1 e 

of any circumstances which would render the particulars in 

this statement mis leading or inaccurcite. 

Nick Belyea 
Chairman of the Board 

9 September :!022 

~~ 
Mellisa Teecle 
Ch1efExecut1ve Officer 

CJ Septemb<'r 20:':i 
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Welcome 

This document provides the Western Austra lian Parliament with information about the performance 
of an agency reporting under the Public Sector Management Act 1994. It also assists the community 
to understand the South West Development Commission's diverse operations as part of the WA 
public sector. 

By read ing this report, stakeholders are able to 

gain insight into what we do, the way we work, 

and how we are supporting t he region. 

Information is provided that describes our 

performance in delivering on our strategic 

objectives, outcomes achieved, and the level of 
stakeholder satisfaction attained. 

We have three offices in the South West, 
including in Collie. 

Most of the detailed information about our 

performance is contained 1n the fo llowing 
chapters. 

E Business and Industry 

Ell Collie Futures 

Ill Infrastructure and Lands 

m Strategic Projects and Grants 

You wi ll also discover more about the services 

we offer 1n support of the South West 1·egion's 

economic growth and diversification. For 

example, we a1·e contracted by the Australian 
Trade Commission to deliver Aust1·ade's 

TradeStarl services. We are also part of the State 
Government's Local Content Adviser Netwo1·k. 

Financials and exemption 

Included in th is 1·eport is 21 copy of our financia l 
statements. 

Under section 14 of the Auditor General 

Act 2006, the Auditor Generc1l has decided 

to dispense with the audit of South West 

Developn1ent Commission for the year ended 
30 June 2022. As required by the Audito1 

General Act 2006, the Auditor General 

consu lted with the Treasurer pt ior to making 
this decision. 

Feedback 

We welcome your feedback on this report. 

Contact us: 9792 2000 or 1nfo(9°lswdc.wa.gov.au 

Cover 

The cover photo captures the historic moment 
Jetstar lands the A320 aircraft that made the first 
flight between Melbourne Airport and Busse/ton 
Margaret River Airport on 6 April 2022. 

Pictu1·e: Jon Gellweiler 

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 11 
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We unlock opportunities. 

We resolve regional challenges. 

We take our region forward. 
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Picture: DFES Incident Photographer Evan Collis 

Year in Review 

Our region is a wonderful p lace 
to live, but like other places in 
t he world it is su bject to the 
forces of nature. 

We dedicate this annual report to those who 

protect our communities from bushfire. We 

especia lly pay tribute to the f1ref1ghters who 
worked in challenging cond itions - including in 
Bridgetown -during the year 1n review 

Support for the emergency response 

In support of emergency response to the 
B1·idgetown fire in February 2022, two of the 

t hree SWDC commu nity emergency response 
trai lers that have been stationed at locations 

around the South West since 2015/16 were 

deployed. 

These trai le1·s are stocked with basic overnight 

supplies such as sleeping bags, air mattresses 

and pi llows- and can be used in t he unfortunate 

event that people are in need of temporary 
acco111rnodat1on at evacuation or 1·esponse sites. 

The t1 ailer p , oj ect represents a collaborative 
app, oach to regional emergency I esponse. It has 

been made possib le with the va luable assistance 

of community emergency services manage1 s 
in the hosting shires and the Department of 

Communities. 

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 II 
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Year in Review 

How we helped the region - at a glance 

• Jetstarcommencesfirst-evercommercial air 
service between Melbourne and Busselton 

--- -
• A proposal for a carbon neutral magnesium 

refinery in Collie reaches a milestone 

• Up to $1 million has been allocated towards 
first stage of a feasibility study into the 
Collie Battery and Hydrogen Industrial Hub 
Project 

- ----
• Construction begins on new medicinal 

cannabis facility near Collie 

Collie on track to be home to Western 
Australia's first fully integrated mine-to
market graphite producer 

• New funding to further diversify and 
complement the growing tourism product 
on offer in the Collie area 

• 'Celebrating Collie's History and Promoting 
Its Future' announced as part of Collie's Just 
Transition 

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 ■ 
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Revitalisation of Collie's Throssell Street 
completed 

• Leading space debris radar company 
LeoLabs names Collie as location of first 
Australian-based radars in the South West 

• An industry forum is held to highlight 
industry choosing Collie and inspire 
collaboration between projects 

A further $2 million invested in the Collie 
Futures Small Grants Program 

Proposal for an advanced manufacturing hub 
takes next step with preliminary assessment 
report into viability of proposed facility 

----·---- -- - - ----
• Funding to support local manufacturing 

businesses to advance 

Robotics forum held to stimulate pipeline of 
talent needed to support workplaces of the 
future 

Local businesses secure contracts on major 

projects including the Sunbury Outer 
Ring Road and Transforming Bunbury's 
Waterfront 

Support to increase presence of South West 
businesses in international marketplace 

, Five local businesses share in $549,181 

through Regional Economic Development 
(RED) Grants Round 4 

, Regional Economic Development Grants 

Round 5 opens 

• $10.8 million Casuarina Drive Redevelopment 

underway, moving Transforming Bunbury's 
Waterfront into new phase 

Jetty Baths Park reopens following 
a revitalisation carried out as part of 

Transforming Bunbury's Waterfront 

• Community event held to celebrate 
reopening of Jetty Baths Park 

Year in Review 

Detailed design work on the breakwaters 
proposed for Casuarina Boat Harbour 
begins, marking a new milestone in 
Transforming Bunbury's Waterfront 

A $1 .1 million contract to upgrade 
Casuarina Boat Harbour boat ramp through 
Transforming Bunbury's Waterfront 
awarded to SMC Marine 
--- --

• International buyers return following 
reopening of international border 

Short-term campaign and digital platform 
launched to address critical hospitality labour 
shortage in Busselton-Margaret River. 
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Overa ll level of satisfaction 

quality of service ~ • •... ~ - . 
2021/22 2020/21 2018/19 

Overa ll level of satisfaction 

quality of performance ~ •.. • 
~ . -

2021/22 2020/21 2018/19 

Strategic Themes 2021/22 2020/21 2018/19 
- - ----

1' a PromotPs thP regio11 eff Pctively 93% 91% 89% 

1' b. Supports the growth of businesses 95% 89% 87% to increase JOO opportunities 

1' C. Facilitates re1Gonal 1n1tic,t1ves to 92% 89% 84% develop new usinesses 

1' d. Engages with stakeholders to drive 
economic growth in the region 91% 88% 89% 

- C Facilitates economic infrastructure 81% 81% 84% l1nled to globcil opportunities 

1' f Supports a brodd 1ntem<1t1onally 

77% 76% 79% engaged industry base that 1s 
business ready and Asia t ~pJble 

1' g Fc1c1li tc1tes tourism development 
and encourages the provision of 91% 87% 85% 1dent1f1ed tourism infrast1 uctl1re 
needs 

1' h. Drives and supports 1n it1at1ves that 

88% 85% 83% promote cohesive, vib1 ~nt 11nd 
engc1gcd communities 

Performance Dashboard 

Each year we ask our key sLakeholders to rate 
our perfor-mance. Here's how you scored us. 

How we performed 

Our fast-growing team has continued to perform strongly c1cross a diverse 
portfolio of work. Year-on-yeai- results display continued improvement in 

key strategic delivery areas. 

Our stakeholders have 1·ecogni5ed our efforts. The resu lts ach ieved are 

testament to the outstanding outcomes we a1 e producing for our region 
in partnership with government, industry, business and community 

About the survey 

We thank our stakeholders for taking the time to complete our annual 

survey for 2021/22. 

Information obtained th1 ough the questionnaire prov1cles a valuable 

method fo1· collecting feedback. We use this feedback to measure ou1 

effectiveness against ou1· legislc1tive mandate lnfom1c1t1on obtained 

helps us to eva luate how our- pe1·formance stacks up in companson to the 

previous year's results. 

This year's survey was once again unclertaken by i11deperide11t consu ltancy 

Advantage Communications - Research. A total of 148 surveys were 
completed 

Note. A stal,,eholder survey was not unclertal-.en 1112019/ 20 dLif:! to an exemption 
from The Department of Treasury, ,n co, 1sultat1on w,th t I ie Pubhc Sector Commission 

and the Office of the Audito, General, relating to pr,,ssures ass1Juc1ted with agency 
workloads relating to COV/0- 19 rest, 1ct ions 

A NNUAL REPORT 2022 m 
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Foreword from the Chairman 

The past 12 mo11ths have represented another 
exciting period for the Commission. 

During this time, we have achieved very good 1·esu lts for the South West, 

wh ile overcoming the hu1·d les of COVID-19 that affected both the 

Commission and the wider region l he cooper at ion displayed by our many 

stakeholders "to just get on with it" was pleasing to see c111d bodes well for 
the future gmwth and prosperity of the South West. 

Among t he many projects and activities the Commission is involved with, 

I am particu larly pleased with the ongoing work of the staff on the Just 

Transition of t he Coll ie wo1·kfo1ce i:lrid community and to f inally see, after 
severa l delays, Jetstcir's A320 touch down in Busselton frmn Melbourne 

on 6 Apri l 2022. 

Chairman 

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 m 
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Executive Summary from the CEO 

Twelve months ago, we reported to you on the economic 
transformation taking place in the coa l-mining town of Coll ie, 
wh ich has proud ly generated electricity f 01- more than a century. 

We knew at the time of delivering our 

previous report that we were making hard

earned progress in transitioning the town to 
a more diversified economy with a reduced 

dependence on the coal sector. This year, we 

have visibly seen the green shoots of a bright 
new future emerge. New business and industry 

are clearly taking shape, laying the groundwork 
for future jobs fo1· the transitioning workfo1·ce 

ahead of the retirement of the State-owned 

coal power stations by 2030. 

We know change is not easy, but the Just 

Transit ion being undertaken by the State 

Government for the loca l workforce and 

community 1n Collie is gaining positive attention. 

At the Commission, we are planning, driving 
and suppo1 ting projects that ensure that as the 

population g, ows, t he region 1·emains a sought

afte1· de~tination to live, work and invest. From 

attractins new investment to supporting aged 

ca1·e projects, we strive to enhance our loca l 

communities for the residents of today and 
tomormw. 

A major theme fo1 us has centred on unlocking 
the potentia l of ou1 region. We're leading 

a major infrastructure proJC?Ct in Bunbury 
t hc1t is converting underused ai-eas of prime 

waterfront land into vibrant places to produce 

ongoing economic and community benefits. 

Plann ing is we ll underway for a future stage 
t hat 1s expected to once again change the face 

of Bun bury - and people's pe1 ceptions of the 
city - through the establishment of a marina at 

Koombarw Bay and a marine industry hub in the 
outer harbour. 

Supporting w01·kp laces to adopt new 

technologies that improve outcomes for 

businesses has also been an area of concent1·atio11 

Ca11napon1cs medicinal cannabis facility 
takes shape. 

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 II 
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Discussing Aboriginal economic development. 

foi us. We've taken the next step in bui lding the 

case for a planned advanced manufacturing 

and technology hub that we expect will afford 

loca l businesses a competitive edge, stimulating 

futu 1·e jobs and apprenticeships. Our Regiona l 

Economic Development (RED) Granls are 

assisling entrepreneu1·ial in itiatives through 

the rea lisation of business plans, includ ing the 

adoption of new technologies. Initiatives to 

support export are gearing up following the 

easing of restrictions relating to the COVID-7 9 

pandemic. 

The comparative advantages offered by our 

region are being well recognised by game

changing companies and projects that are 

establish ing in the South West. Thei1· arriva l is 

placing the I egion at the fo1·efront of industry 

and opening up the region's prospects. 

For exan1ple, Jetsta1· commenced its first 

passenger c1ir service between Busselton and 

Melbourne. And space debris radar track111g 

company Leolabs has selected Coll ie as the 
location fo1· its fast Austra lian-based radars. 

These developments, although vc1stly diffei·ent, 

emphasise the considerable comparative 
advantages ou1· region has to offer - not t o 

mention, t he capability of the South West to 
compete on the national and international 

stages. It's gratifying to see continued 
investment in established industries, wh ich are 

ope1·ating on a sign ificant scale, that choose to 

I·emaIn and grow in the South West. 

Once again, we have proactively responded 
to 1mmecliate 1·egional issues including critica l 

labour 2md hous111g shortages. We wi ll continue 

to address these ongoing pressure points into 

the future. 

We wou lcl like to thank ouI· Minister and her 

staff, as well as our Chairman, board and staff, 

who have displayed a very solid commilment 

to supporting our comrnunil1es through 

tack li ng cha llenges and making the most of 

oppurluI1It1es Our efforts have been highlighted 

In the re,,u lts of our stakeholder survey, which 
has show11 year·-on-year improvement. 

Going forwar cl, we wi ll continue to wor-k witl r 
industr·y, business, governrne11 t and community 

as we again take a collaborative approach to 
setting up Lhe region for the long-Lerm Regional 

developn 1ent Is done best when a collective 

effort is La ken. You on ly have to look through this 

report fo1 examples of the irnpc1ctful outcomes 
that can be acl ,ieved through workingtogethe1. 

Our learn has expanded over the past year to 

meet the demands of an expanding and mor-e 
complex po1·tfolio of work. We are now better 

resou1-ced to support the I·egIon go111g forward. 

Regardless of the cha llenges thal I nay be ti Irown 
our way, uur dedicated and pa~:,ionate team is 

ava ilab le to support the conti11ued growth of 
the South West region. 

~~ 
Mellisa T eede 

SWDCCEO 
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Regional 
snapshot 

Ma ri ufac.tu ri ng 
Constr uction 

Mining 
Rental , Hiring & Real Estat e Se,rvrces 

Agricu lture, Fo,estr y & 1-ishing 
Electricity, Gas, Water & Waste Services 

Healt h Care & Social A!>~i!>tance 
Retai l I rade 

~ Accornmodat1on & Food Services 
~ Educat io n & Training ...... 
t Public Administrat ion & Saf~ty ...._ 
!!l Transport, Postal & Warehousing -

--g Professional, Scientific & Technical Services .... 
- Financial & Insur ance Services --

Adm,n istratrve & Support Services -

Other Services -
Wholesale Trade -

POPULATION 
GROWTH RATE 

8.6% 

All industry sectors 
in South West Region 

ranked by output Information Media & Telecomrnunications • 
Arts & Recreation Services ■ 

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 4, 000 5,000 6,000 7,000 8,000 9,000 
SM 

State of the Region 

Significant social and 
economic t-end 

• Western Australia's 
coal power stations will be 
by 2030. 

• The State Government makes the 
historic decision to end native forest 
logging by 2024. 

horta-g~,s in lagour a.s well as 
hoUsingcind land supply impact 
on the region. 

A total of 34% of the South West 
population were over 55 years 
compared to 28% for the State. 

State Government Budget Breakfast m Bunbury 
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About Us 

We're working for the South West 

We are the State Government's 
peak eco110mic deve lopment 
body in the South West of 
Western Australia. 

With a fondness foi- saying "we're working on 

tomo, row, today", we p lan for future initiatives 
that will unlock oppoi-tunities and pos1t1on the 

South West to prosper in the long-term. At the 
same time, we also address irnmediate-tem1 
cha llenges - problem-solving for our region and 

identifying solutions that suppoi-t prog,·ess. 

In d 11ving meaningful outcomes for 0L11· region, 

we work with stakeholders at c1 strategic and 
ope, ationcil level. Our collecl,ve focus is on 

projects c1nd programs that provide for a strong, 
diverse and resi lient economy - wrth local Jobs, 
fo,· local people. 

As a statutory authority of the West Austra lian 
Government worki ng for the benefit of the 

South West, we take a holistic approach to 
ensuring the South West is c1 ,egion of first 
choice. With this in mind, we st, ive to improve 

quality of life and enhance liveabi lity 

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 II 
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Who we are 

We are one of nine uniformly legislated agencies, 

dedicated to serving a region of Western 

Austi-a lia The Commission was previously 

known as the South West Development 

Authority, and was enacted under the Regional 
Development Commissions Act 1993. 

Our objectives are to: 

Maximise job creation and improve career 

opportunities in the region 

Develop and broaden the economic base of 
the region 

Mellisa Teede speaks at the Collie Industry Forum. 

Identify 1nfrast1·ucture services needed to 

promote economic and social development 
within the region 

Provide information and advice to promote 

business development within the region 

Seek to ensu1·e that the general standard of 
government se1·v1ces and access to those 

services in the region is comparable to that 

which applies 1n the metmpolitan c1rea 

Gene, ally take steps to encourage, promote, 

faci litate and monitor the economic 
development in the region. 

How we work 

We work with stakeholders to deliver outcomes 

through four strategic portfolios: 

Business and Industry 

Infrastructure and Lands 

Strategic Projects and Grants 

Coll ie 

Our ability to produce positive outcomes for 

the region is assisted by the fact that we are: 

Contracted by the Australian Trade 
Comm1ss1on to deliver Austrade's TradeSta1·t 
services 

Pa1·t ofthe State Government's Loca l Content 
Advise, Netwo, k 

About Us 
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Government goals 

Our strategic delivery areas align with the 

State Government's priorities 

Alignment with 
government goals 

Our strategic delivery areas align with 

the State Government's priorities. 
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MINISTER FOR 
REGIONAL 

DEVELOPMENT 

SWDC 
BOARD 

STRATEGIC PROJECTS 
AND GRANTS 

~:;~::.!t_~~~!~ 
Senior Regional 

Develeopment Officer 
_(Grants Manager) PFT 

Regional Development 
Officer (ProJects) 

PFT 

Regional Development 
Officer (Board/ 

Governance) PFT 

Principal Regional 
Development Officer 

(AMTECH) 

Regional Development 
Officer (Grants) 

PPT 

Regional Development 
Officer (Grants/ 

Community) TPT 

Organisational Structure 

OFFICEOF 
THECEO 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER Communications Adviser 

PFT 
Regional Development 

Officer (Finance/ Audit) PFT 

COLLIE 

Director 
Collie 

Regional 
Development Officer 

(Collie Grants) Tf-T 

Regional Development 
Officer (Grant s/ 

Communit y) TFT 

BUSINESS 
AND INDUSTRY 

Director 
Business and Industry 

Principal Regional 
Development Officer 

(Major Industry 
Development)PFT 

Senior Regional 
Development Officer 

(Business Development) 
PFT 

Regional Development 
Officer (Project 

Mgmt/Community) 
PFT 

Administration Officer 
TFT 

INFRASTRUCTURE 
ANDLANDS 

Director Infrastructure l 
and lands 

PFT 

Senior Regiona l 
Development Officer 

PFT 

Senior Regional 
Development Officer 

PFT 

Regional Development 
Officer (Major Projects) 

PFT 

Project Manager -
Transforming 

Bunbury's Waterfront 
TFT 

ProJect Officer -
(TBW /Community) 

TFT 

PFT Pr~1111<..J11et1l Full T1111,- PPT P1;>rm..:ir11::"11t Pc.,,t Tun!? New f-.Jt:".t . Po~it1011 A/ A l111g TFT Temp01 .. 1ry Full T1n1e 
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Regional Development f\llinister Alannah /V1ac Tiernan visits the new 
mountain bike park in Nannup. 

About the Minister 

The South West Development Commission 
is responsible to the Minister for Regional 
Development. 

Hon Alannah Mac Tiernan MLC 

Minister Alannah MacTiernar1 is committed to creating economic 
opportunity in our· r·egional areas. 

As Minister for Plan1 11 ng and Infrastructure from 2001 to 2008, Ms 
Mac Tieman was responsib le for major projects across the State includrng 
the Mandurah rail line, the Forrest Highway, the Geraldton port a11d 
rat! expaI1sIon and the Armadale town cent,·e and Champion Lakes 
developments. 

In 2011 she was elected Mayor of the City of Vincent and rn 2013 was 
elected as the Member for Perth to the Federal Pa, I,ament, where she 

became Shadow Parliamentary Secretary for Western Australia and 
Deputy Chair of the Joint Standing Commrltee on Northern Australia. 
After Ms Mac Tiernan decided not lo recontest Perth ,n 201 6, she 
was inviteci to re-join WA Labo,· i11 the Legislative Cuu11e1I. After being 
elected in 201 7, she was appointecJ Minister for Regional Development 
and Agricu lture and Food and Minister Assisting the Minister for State 
Develop171ent, Jobs and Tracie. 

Ms Mac Tiernan is now the Minister for Regional Development, Agriculture 
and Food, and Hydrogen Industry. 
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Our board is the governing body responsible to 
the Regional Development Minister for setting 
the direction and priorities of the Commission 

It meels regularly to discuss rnatlers 1·elating to the Comrnissio11, provide 

guidance on specif ic projects and initiatives, as well as mcike decisions 

about project s, priorities and expenditure. 

Members are selected from community and loca l governme11t 
nominations, as well as Ministerial appointments. The Commission's chief 

e><ecut.ive officer also serves on the board in an ex-officio capac1ly, but 
does not have voting rights. All board members bring ski lls, knowledge and 
experience that benefit the Commission and the region. 

Left to right. Catrin Allsop, Tony Dean, Pat Scallan, Nick Belyea, 
fV/e/lisa Teede, Louise Reid, Tress/yn Smith. 

Nick Belyea 

CHAIRPERSON 

Ministerial representative 
3-year term expired 31 December 2021 

Our Board 

Nick Belyea has extensive high-level experience in avicil1011, tourism and 

transport, in both the public and private sectors. He held senior roles 1n 

airport management in Western Austra lian and East Coast airports befme 
working at the Department of Transpmt for 10 yea1·s over;,eeing av1atior1, 

1·ail, po1·t a11d freight policy, and sµencling 10 years as the CEO of Broome 

lnterna ti o11c1I Airport. Nick spl1Ls his time between Perth and Augusta, 

increasingly spending more time in the South West. Nick 1s a practicing pilot. 

Pat Scallan OAM 

DEPUTY CHAIRPERSON 

Community representative 
3-year term expiring 31 December 2022 

Pat was the General Manager Operations and General Manager Pr0Jects 

Tal1son Lithium Pty Ltd Greenl:.iushes Operations fo1· ovei- 20 yea1·s. He has 

held a number of senior operational positions in the m1ne1·a l sands industry 

at both E1 1eabba and Capel amJ has wmked at gold n 1in111g operations at 
Western Deep Levels in South Afm.a. Mr Scal lan was tile chairman and 

deputy chairman of the South West Regiona l Council of the Chamber 
of Minerals and Energy for more than 15 yea1·s. He is very involved 1n the 

local community and amongst other i11terests was a counci llor on the 
Bridgetown-Greenbushes Shi1·e for over 18 yeai-s. 
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Tony Dean 

BOARD MEMBER 

Local Government representative 
3-year term expired 31 May 2021 

Tony bnngs a wealth of experience In community leadership together 
with a whole of South West per:;,pective to the board. He is currently the 

President of the Shire of Nanr1up and a member of the JTSI Native Forest 

Just Transition Commrtlee. He was previously the Member for Bun bury, 

and spent seven years as a Bunl.iury City counci llor. Tony is president of 
lite South West Loca l Government Association, p1·esidenl of the Warren 

Blackwood All iance of Councils, and a state counci llor for the Western 

Auslra lian Loca l Government As~ociat ion. Tony was a school teacher for 
25 years, mostly of Agricu ltu rc1 I Studies, and spent 17 yeaI·s as Def)uty and 
P1·i1 1eipal of Austra lind Senior High School. 

Catrin Allsop 

BOARD MEMBER 

Community representative 
3-yearterm expiring 31 December 2022 

With more than 7 9 yea1·s' experience in the tou,· ism industry, Catrin Is 

the Chief Executive Officer of Australia's South West, one of Western 

Austr'a lia's five Regional Tourism Organisations. Catrin brings strong 

leadership, proven strategic implementation and effective stakeholder 

engagement ski ll s to the organisation and regio11. Catrin's industry 

representation includes being a Board Member of Regional Development 

Austra lia South West, and is involved In key industry project areas such 

as product development, aviation and trails ma1·keti11g as we ll as various 

co llaborations w ith i11dustr·y stakeholders in developing part11ersh1ps lo 

increase co-operation in destination management. Catrin holds a Bachelor 

of Arts (Hons) in International Ma11agement and Business Admin istration 
and a Master of Business Admin istration. 

Tresslyn Smith 

BOARD MEMBER 

Local Government representative 
2-year term expired 1 November 2021 

Our Board 

Tresslyn Smith Is a Counci llor cmd Deputy Mayor at the City of Bu11bury. 

Raised 011 a farm in Benger, Tresslyn has a backgrnund In consumer affa irs 

including as an industrial re lations and consumer affa,rs investigator. She 

plays 2111 active role in the com, nu11Ity, including as the director al Aqwest, 

cha1rper~on ofthe Bu11bury/Ha1 vey Regio11c1 I Council Waste Management 

Facility, member of the Sunbury Port Community Liaiso11 Comrrnttee, and 

member of the West Austra lian Country Health Service l::th1cs Committee. 
Tresslyn was educated al the Benger (Western Austl'a l1a) State School, 

St Anne's in Harvey and Is a g1·aduale of Murdoch U111ver~ity 

Louise Reid 

BOARD MEMBER 

Ministerial representative 
2-year term expiring 30 June 2022 

Louise has rnorethan 20years' experience in human resource management, 

industria l re laLions arid general rnanagernent working for not-for-profits, 

private sector and loca l goveI 11ment_ For the past 10 years she and her 

husband have owned and ope1 ated property and small businesses in the 

Halifax Business Park. Lou ise has been an advocate fo1 ensuring the long 

term vic1bility and growth o f this industrial park, 1nclud111g woI king with the 

State Government to secure Funding for upgrades towards Halifax. 

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 fl 



e § e 

Introduction 

Overview and 
Pe~ormance 

t;it<> of the Region 

Organisation 

About us 

( \,,,I ll l •rJ r 1! 

f' I_ 1r 

:\ ,c;-.•· I, ' ·,\1 I ," 

-...,I J!?, ' i 

■ Our Executive Team 

.,!JI ( \· • j! _\ 

•l lf 1- '.,fj, 

• ... : I I' ',' 11 l .-1 I J)_ J' J, 

Strategic Priorities 

Legal and Reporting 

financials 

~/ ~~'-

sou~ WEST 
i •r ~ c_('lPMI N r c C•MM1'.½101, 

Mellisa Teede 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

As the CEO of the South West Development 

Commission, Mell isa leads the State 

Government's job-creating agenda in the 

South West, dnvir1g regional diversif1calion and 

local content outcomes. Key initiatives being 

progi-essed under Mell isa's leadership include 

the South West Advanced Manufacturing and 

Technology Hub (SW AMTEC l -0 proposa l 

Mellisa has more than 30 years of experience in 

the public sector, including in senior leadersh ip 

ro les in education and trnining. She brings 

significant regiona l development experience to 

the ro le, having previously held the CEO role at 

the Peel Development Commission from 2012 

to 2015, and was also the Managing Director of 

the Gold fie lds Institute of Technology. 

Andrew Mc Robert 
DIRECTOR - BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY 

Andrew joined the team in January 2022, taking 

on the Business and Industry po1·tfolio. Prior to 

th is, he spent two yea1·s as a proJect manager for 

the Bu11bu1·y Development Committee. Andrew 

has spent more than 30 years working in the 

South West where he has operated his own town 

p lanning, 1x0Ject management and development 

businesses. He brings a wealth of knowledge 

in the public and private sectors including in 

infrastructure and property developments. 

Our Executive Team 

Our corporate executive team sets the Commission's strategic 
direction. Each executive member oversees a team ded icated to 
delivering strategic outcomes. 

Ashley Clements 
DIRECTOR - INFRASTRUCTURE AND LANDS 

Ashley Clements leads the multi-agency 
Transforming Bunbury's Waterfront initiative, 
coordinating across organisations to unlock 
long-term economic and social benefits for the 
region in the delivery of the three-stage project. 
As Directo1 - lnfrast1 ucture and Lands, he plays 
an important mle i11 the strategic delivery of 
infrastructure for the South West and is involved 
in Cl'itical 1nfrast1·ucture projects across the region 
Ashley has more than 20 years of experience in 
regiona l development at State, Federal, local 
government and the not-for-pmfit sector level 

Pip Kirby 
DIRECTOR- COLLIE 

Pip currently leads the Comrnissio1i's cross
agency wmk to support the transit.ion of the 
Coll ie economy away from a 1·eliance on coal 
fired power generation. Pip bri11gs more than 
20 years' experience in regional development, 
stakeholder engagement, business development, 
intergovernmental coordination, project 
management and policy development to the 
role and has p1·eviously worked with both the 
Wheatbeltand Peel Development Commissions. 

Corina Docking 
DIRECTOR- STRATEGIC PROJECTS AND GRANTS 

Corina's knowledge of proJect management, 

regiona l development, staff development ancl 
business growth spreads over 25 years through 

leadersh ip roles with the Commonwealth, 

Local and State government, as well as being 
an instrumental leader through the private 

sector. Corina's work has involved being the 

ProJect Director for· the South West Advanced 

Manufacturing ancl Technology Hub (SW 
AMTECH) 

Pip Kirby, Andrew /V/cRo/Jei-l, 
Melhsa Teede and Ashley Clements 
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Our Office, Our People 

Workplace insight 

When purpose and passion combine, you get a high-performing 
team. We have that here at the Commission. It's why we are 
able to deliver st rongly for the region we serve. 

The above results were obtained through our annual stakeholder survey. 

Workplace overview 

We have a locally-based tecim serving the South 
West. 

Each t eam member helps us to deliver on 

our objectives, contributing to making a 

positive difference to the I eg1on. No day at 
the Commission is the same - our people are 
on the gn->und and helping to shape the region 

in a variety of ways. These i1iclucie thmugh 

project management, brnke1 ing partnersh ips, 

developing business ccises, fac il1tat1ng expo1·ts, 

attracting investment, managing grants, and 
administrating. 

The Commission has been through a period 
of growth ancJ exµansion 111 recent years. With 

a broader scope and complexity of work, 

incluJing a focus on la1·ge-scale projects, we 

have increased our staff mg numbers In order to 

adequately resou1·ce our prnjects and p1 ograrns. 

We work across the entire South West 1·egion 

of Western Austra lia, covering 23,970 squa1·e 
ki lometres. To ensure we a1 e c1ccessible to all 

communities, we have offices in Bunbury, Coll ie 

and Manjimup as well as hot desks 1n Busselton 
and Margaret River. 
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Working on Transforming Bunbury's Waterfront 

Our Office, Our People 

,, Since early 2021 , I have taken on the role of 
Project Manage,- for Stage 3 (Phase 1) of the 
Transforming Bunbu ry's Wate1-front (TBWJ 
project. 

The key objectives of this stage include facilitating the developme11t of 

a local mari11e i11dustry and enhancing the waterfront precinct for the 
Bunbury community. 

A key part of my role, to date, has been coordinati11g va1·1ous assessments 
to identify any potentia l environmental impacts for Casuari11a Boat 

Harbour and Koombana Bay. These assessments feed into a Strategic 
Public Environmental Review (SPER) process and will unde1·go a detailed 
review by the Environmental Protection Authority ove1· the next 12 

months. They include unde1·water noise modell ing, Koornbana Bay and 
Leschenau lt Inlet marine water quality sarnpling, and a marine fauna 

assessment that takes in the local dolphin popu lation. 

What I love about work ing on the TBW project is the opportu11ity to 

be part of something transformationa l 011 d ifferent levels - from new 

infrastructure on the land and 1n the water, which the boating and 

general community can enjoy, to simply unclersta11ding more about the 
environme11tal va lues of our marine environment. 

I cannot wait to see what this stage of the project brings, whi le also 

contributing to further improvements and activations fm the first two 

TBW stages. ' ' 

Kyra Nimrno 

Project Manager- Transforming Bunbury's Wate rfront 
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Our Office, Our People 

,, The grants team del ivers various grant 
programs, including the Regional Economic 
Development (RED) grants on behalf of DPIRD 
as part of the Strategic Projects and Grants 
portfolio at the Cm1wnissior1. 

A highlight for me has been the industry engagemenL, delivering capacity 
bui lding and supporting local businesses to improve Lhe1r 1·eacliness to 
access fu11ding opportunities. 

Gaining insight into the diversity of projecls, emerging industries cind 
innovation within the South West has been inspiring, sl1owcasi11g the 
strong business confidence and complex it y of our I egional economy. 

Our ach ievements include developing 1ndustl'y resources and hostine 
grant readiness workshops in Manj imup, Busselton and Bunbury in 
col laboration with other funders from DPIRD and TrndeStart, grant 
writers and successfu l applicants. This p1·epared industry w ith tips 
and tools, ensuring compe ll ing and competitive projects for upcoming 
funding rounds. 

Our team's commitment to being approachable and accessible to 
industry during the RED grant round was demonstrated through one
on-one confidential on line meetings, in addition Lo a regional roadshow 
of face-to-face appointme11ts. 

This year the team also produced an online video arnrnat1on that 
demystifies the grant application pmcess and builds on ti 1e collaterc,1 we 
provide to upski ll potential applicants cilld ensure project;, help grow the 

local economy. ' ' 

Tonia Home 

Regional Development Officer 
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We have three offices in the region including in fV/anjimup. 

Our Office, Our People 

We are leaders 

We provide leadership to the region that is 1nspirn 1g, mot1val1ng and 

re levant. 

We are professional 

We act at all times with hone~ly, integr1ly anc.l fa1r11ess, recognising the 
importa11ce of being open and acc.ountable 1n ou1· actions. 

We embrace sustainable practice 

We take a well -planned, consiclerecl approach to our· projects to ensure the 

qualities and opportunities of the region are enhanced for both present 
and futu,·e generations. 

We display excellent service 

We aim to be globa l leaders in regional development, with va lued and 
ski lled personnel and a responsive attitude to people. 

Our values are: 

Excellence - in all we deliver 

Engaged - to be an outwards looking organisation, connected to our 

community and representing their interests and needs 

Integrity -to act ethica lly, honestly and with transparency 

Inclusion -to be positive and supportive, respecting and valuingdrversity 

Impact -to make a difference in crll we undertake 
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Significant issues affecting the agency 

The COVID- 7 9 pandemic continued to disrupt the previous 'normal' in 

terms of how our workforce functioned. A plan was implemented to keep 

staff safe and protect the operations of the Commission. This included 

a work from home roste1· incorporating a back-up-system for priority 

projects, more frequent use of MS Teams for meetings, and increased 

cleaning measures for our rneeting rooms and vehicles. This approach 

1 ninirnised the irr1pact on the Commission's important operdtions. 

We work with industry to identify opportunities to stre1 igthen 
and grow the economy. 

Agency Information 

Shared responsibilities with other agencies 
We work in partnership with olher agencies in order to deliver oulcomes 
for the I egion. 

Key e>.arnples of where we have taken a collaborative cipproach include· 

Leading Transforming Bunbury's Waterfront which currently involves 

working with Department of Transport, DevelopmentWA, City of 
Bunbury and Southern Ports. 

• The cross-agency w01·k at Coll ie involves working with the Department 

of Premier and Cabinet and other dgencies involved 1n a whole-of

government approach. 

As core members of the Native Forest Transit ion Group (NFTG), we 
assist in the delivery and implementation of the Just Transition Plan . 

Working with the Department of Primary Industries and Regional 

Development to deliver the Regional Economic Development (RED) 
Grants in the South West region. 

Buoying our ability to produce positive outcomes fur the region 1s 
our conlract with the Austra lic1n Trade Comrrnssion to deliver 

Austrade's TradeStart services. W<c also have a Regiona l Trade Network 

which sees us work collaboratively across the South West, Great Southern 

and Gold fie lds-Esperance regions to provide advice and assistance to local 
businesses. 

We also support the delivery of a loca l conte11t program which 

includes the delivery of the WA Industry Parllcipallon St1·ategy 

The delivery of the WA l11du!:.Lry Pa1·t1cipat1on Strategy is being 

earned out as a joint in1tiat1ve between the Dep&trnent of Jobs, 

Tourism, Science and Innovation a11cl Department of Primary 
Industries and Regional Development under an MOU. On beha lf of 

the State Government, we have conl1nued to ad 1rnn ister grants 
programs 111 the South West. 
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Collie's Throssell Street has been given a makeover. 

Collie Futures IBII 

We're committed to supporting a Just Transition 
for Collie and its loca l workforce. In supporting 
Collie, we work closely with State Government 
agencies, industry and the community to lay the 
importantgrou11dwork for a successfu l transition. 

Collie Futures Fund 

An autonomous vehicle equipment training centre, a fu/(y 111tegratecl mine
to-market graphite producer and a medicinal canndb1s manufacturer. 
These are some of the game-changing companies positioning themselves 
in Collie's transitioning econon1y and creating the jobs of the future -
setting up the town for the long term with support from the Collie Futures Fund 

Fo1· more than a century, the coal mining tow11 of Coll ie has powered the 

State of Western Austra lia. In the face of a changing energy 

landscape, the town is t1·ansitioni11g from a depe11dence on the coal 

sector to a more resil ient economy witl 1jobs across a range of 111dustry sectors. 

Unprecedented funding support from the State Government, rncluclrng 

through the Collie Futures Fund, has successfully attracted new and emer·grng 

industry. This investment rn Coll ie has successfully incenlivisecl the private 

sector to view the town with fresh eyes and see ,ts untapped potential. As a 

result, there are now game-changing companies erther established or 
expanding in Collie, setting up operations, or wrtl 1 µrom1sing proJect 

proposals in the pipeline. As highlighted at the Collie 111dustry forum on 

Apri l 1 2022, these ventures are placing the Lown at the very fo,·efront of 

inclustry. Sturdy foundations are bei11g created fo1 21st century Jobs anci 

training pathways that wi ll set up the Lown and rts t,·ansitroning workforce 
with a strong futur·e. 
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Among the innovative compan ies placing Coll ie 
in the spotlight as a destination Fo, new industry 
is International Graphite. The company is on 
track to become Western Austra lia's first fu lly 
integrated mine-to-market graphite produce,· 
with plans to establish a research and processing 
plant. A notable achievement occu 1-red on 
April 7 2022 with a "trong f i, st clay of t1·ading 
on the Australian Securities Exchange ,·a ising 
$10 million 

Efforts to attract new and emerging industries 
continued to gear up. A bid to establish a 
carbon neutra l magnesium refinery took the 
next step. The study into the viabi lity of bui lding 
a state-of-the-art magnesium plant in Coll ie 
has been completed, highlighting the town as 
an ideal location in Western Australia for the 
proposed proj ect. This proposal Is showing real 
promise and t he State Government is working 
to pmgress the opportunity. 

Plans were announced for a feasibi lity study into a 
big battery and renewable eneI gy hub for Coll ie, 
In a fLwther indication of the town's potential to 
become a majm renewable energy centre. Up to 
$1 mill ion in funding was approved for the fast 
"t age of the Sunshot Energy study into the Coll ie 
Battery and Hydrogen Industr ial I· lub Project. An 
assessment wi ll be carried out on the economic 
case for establish ing a hydrogen electrolyse,·, 
powered by renewable energy 

Other projects at va ri ous stages include the 
WesTrac Technology Training Centre, which 
is up-and-running. Other initiatives mclude 

the Collie Roundhouse redevelopment, Coll ie 
Ridge Motel e>spansion, and Renergi waste 
management faci lity 

Coll ie's appeal was increased w ith the completion 
or a facelift of the town's main street, involving 
t he revitalisation and repair of historic facades. 
Through the Throssell Street revitcil isation works, 
11 bui ldings we,·e upgraded 

The State Government is significantly investing in 
Coll ie's long-term future. Over the past five years 
the Government has wo,-ked closely with industry 
and the community to lay the groundwork for 
this transition. In June 2022 an additional $54 7.4 
mi ll ion was announced to diversify and transition 
the town, bringing total State Government 
investment to more than $662 mi ll ion. 

The new funding was put in place as preparations 
were made for the retiremen t of Collie's State
owned coa l-fired power stations in response t o 
WA's oveI whelming uptake of rooftop solar and 
renewables. Western Austra lia's State-owned 
coa l power stations at Coll ie and Muja w ill be 
retired by 2030. 

To mark Coll ie's transition, a program of existing 
and new events celeb,·ating the town was 
announced under the banner of 'Celebrating 
Collie's Histmy and Promoting Its Future'. The 
events are aimed at capturing the richness of 
Coll ie's i11clustrial history allcl showcasing how 
the South West town has changed- highlighting 
what Collie and ,ts surroundings currently have 
Lo offer visi t ors a11 d residents. 

Collie Futures 1111 

The scale of the Cannapon ,cs medicinal facd,ty 
was seen first-hand dur,ng a site visit 
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Collie is transforming as a trails destination. 

Collie Futures 1111 

Tourism businesses emerge in transitioning economy 

State Government investment has unlocked the potentia l of 
Col l1e

1

s tourism industry. New attractions such c1s the Welli r,gtori 
Dam mural, Lake Kepwari recreational lake, and adventure tra il s 
have transformed Coll ie into a must-visit destination - with a 
record 26,982 vis itors in 2021 . 

Small IJus,nesses supported by the Collie Futures 
Fund are making the most of Coll,e's elevated 
appeal as a tourist clest,nation. 

In the year in review, funding was announced 
towards four projects that wi ll further diversify 

and complement the growing tourism product 
on offer In the local area. 

Through Lhe Coll ie Futures Industry Development 
Fund, the iconic Prem ier Hotel wi ll be reopened 

as an upmaI kel dining and accommodation 

venue serving gourmet meals and boutique 

beers and wines. 

Built in 1901 and closed in 2020 with the 

accommodation side of the business operating 

again in 2021, the upgrade of the hotel will 
include both interio1· and exterior renovations. 

Ferguson Gate wi ll transform a disused property 

into accessible and pet-friendly short-term 

accommodation to be known as Wambenger 

Lodge. 

The establishment of the Warnbenger Lodge 
wi ll breathe new life into an e'<Isting c1sset, while 

giving tourists another accomrnodatio11 option 

whe11 slc1yi11g in Collie and exµ lorrng the town 
and ~urrounding a1 eas. 

Weslwa ll Holdings will establish c:1 luxu1·y events 

and accommodation venue that will provide 
tourists with another reason to visit and stay rn 
the Collie-Donnybrook regron. 

Adventure Cor 1neclrons will expand frmn a social 

enterp1 ise lo offering rnour 1tain bike activities 

and adventure Lou1·s for a wider market. The 

business wi ll make the n 1ost of the world-c.lass 

traib i ri the Collie area, with the State Government 

establisl 1ing Coll ie as Westen I Aust1·alia's premier 

'trai l adve11ture tow11' to attract tourists and 

suppmt Lhe loca l economy. 

These projects fo llow 111 the footsteps of 

previously funded I·ecIpIents suc.h as, OuLback 

Horse Trails and Traaverse. 
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Skills pilot program connects people 
and place 

A unique p,lot project that provides heritage skills 
development opportunities through connecting 
people and place has so far benefited 7 6 Collie 
locals and another 20 from the extended 
community 

Through the Heritage Skdls Association, 
participants are bemg given a chance to learn real
world skills while providing valuable assistance to 
main taming the Collie Goods Shed. 

With support from the Collie Futures Small Grants 
Program, work has centred around painting, roof 
painting, and carpent,y andjomery. 

The project is breathing new life into a 
heritage building while providing training 
(or Collie residents who want to l,ve and work 
locally. 

Collie Futures 1111 
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The Arroljetty crane on the Jetty Road 
causeway now lights uµ at night. 

Infrastructure and Lands Ill 

We invest in and drive projects that support a strong, resilient 
and diversified economy - and create loca l jobs, for local 
people Gateway infrastructure proJects such as Transforming 
Bunbury's Waterfront a11d the Busselton Margaret Rive1 Airport 
development are unlocking industry poter1t1al, wh ile producing 
ongoi1·1g benefits for the co1,1munity. 

Transforming Bunbury's Waterfront 

Transforming Bunbury's Waterfront is a multi
agencyef fort to unlock the considerable potential 
of Western r\ustralia's second city. The aim is 
to establish a thriving waterfront destination 
for locals and visitors to eryoy, and a place for 
industry and business to prosper. This year, we 
have continued to deliver enhanced spaces for 
the community to en)Oy. At the same time, we 
have positioned Bunbury to take its next leap 
forward through planning for future waterfront 
initiatives such as b1 eakwater construction that 
will substantially change the face of the city. 

Bunbury's walerfront cont1nueJ to evolve in 

the financial year, with substantial progression 

made on Cisuarina D1·ive. O ur pmgram delivery 

office supported DevelopmentWA in the 

delivery of the fast scope of the $10.8 mil lion 

Casuarina Drive Redevelopment. Jetty Baths 

Park was 1·enewed and officia lly reopened 

as a I ef1 eshed foreshore a1·ea and popular 

picnic spot 1n Decembe1 2021. The park was 

transformed into a family-fr iend ly destination 

with a new water front promenade, playground, 
impr oved beach access, and landscaped areas 

as well picnic and barbecue faci lities. The 

enhancements have converted this location 
into a buzzing waterfront area. 

Further works on the Casuarina D1·ive 

Redevelopment were ca r 1·ied out uti l1s111g 

Busselton-based civi l engineer 1ng contractor 

Leeuw1n Civi l. The company was appointed to 
deliver essentia l c1vrl and servicing works, which 

have put in p lace the enabling infrastructure 

to progre<:,s the fo st scope of Stage 3 and 

further unlock Bunbury's potential as a marine 

industry hub. Scope 2 of the Casuarina Dr ive 

Development is on track to e'<ceed the local 

content target of 85 per cent on completion, 

fu1·the1 building on the project's strong record 

for local business pa r t1cipation. 
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Concurren tly, we've bee11 working closely with 
the Depa1·tment of Transport (00·1) and local 

stakeholders to advance p lanning of Stage 3 
- Phase 7. The Do I' is overseei 11g the detai led 

design wo1·k and has appoinleJ consu ltants 
Advisic1n to under take th is work for the proposed 

Casuarrnc, Boat Harbour and Koombana Bay 

breakwaters, with constructio11 anticipated 

t o begin in 2024 fo ll owi11g envimnmenta l 
approvcJ I The she I ter·ed wc1ter p rovided by 

t he breakwaters wou ld support development 
of t he marine industry and provide long-term 

ciSSets for the community to enjoy 

Infrastructure and Lands Ill 

In pr·eparing for this stage, an environmental 

impact assessment and review process that was 
formally initiated in 207 5 had made significant 

progress by the e11d of th is f inancia l year. The 

pu r·pose of this process has been to identify 

all potentia l impacts from the construction 

and operation of the marine-ba<:,eJ <:,tructures 

proposed for Stage 3. We have worked cl osely 

with t i 1e DoT, which is the delivery agency for 
TBW Stage 3- Phase 7, to carry out the suite of 

technical studies requir·ed by the Environmental 
Protection Authority (EPA) to complete a 

con 1prehe11sive Strategic Public 'Environmenta l 

Review. We expect to pmvicle a submission to 

the EPA rri eady 2022-23. 

A $1 .1 ri 1rl l1011 co1rt1 act to upgr·ade Casua,·rna 

Boat Ha1·bou,- boat ramp hils been awar·decl 

to SMC Mar·rne. The contr·act wr ll see the 

current 28-yea1·-o lcl ramp and fixed timber 

jetty upgraded to a new modern facility, with 

a floilting jetty ancl two- lane ramp desrgnecl 

to better accon,modate large trailers and 

wider vesse ls. Aclditrona l wo1 k to upgrade 

the boat I amp parking faci lities 1s planned 

for 2023 . 

Jetty Baths Park was enhanced through Transforming Bunbury's Water(ront. 
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Crowds gathered to witness the first Jetstar flight into 13us::,elton. 

Infrastructure and Lands Ill 

Busselton Margaret River Airport 

Unlocking new market growth opportunities through infrastructure 
projects is part of what we do at the Commission. 

The commencement of the Jetstar interstate air se1 vice between 

Busselton and Melbourne was a11 historic moment thc1t positioned the 

South West tourism industry fur take-off 

Long-running plans to link the South West ol Western Austra lia with the 
East Co21st of Australia with a commercia l air service were fina lly realised 

when Jetstar's fii·st-ever comme1-cic1 I aI1· service between Melbourne and 

Bussellon commenced on Apri l 6 2022 The service was :,everal years Ill 

the mc1king and suffered delays due to COVI 0-19, but it was well worth 
the wait. 

As passionc1le advocates for our 1egion, we have been a significant participant 
1n this project. The touch down of the Jetstar A320 airc1 aft at Busse I tori 

represented the cu lmination of many years of work with the City of 

Busselton and other stakeholders to bui ld the case - and secure fund ing -

for the redevelopment of the airport. Alongside Tou1 ism WA and the 

City of Busselton, we took the project from busmess case lo development, 
and then secured an ai rl ine ser·vice 

The Bussellon Margaret River Airport cleveloprne11t is considered c1 

regional gateway infrastwctme proJect, opening up the South West's 

tourism potential by providing access Lo new markets. For the first time, 

visitors c111d loca ls can fly direct to the reg1011 from the East Coast to the 

renowned South West region of WA. 
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Housing 

Addressing the region's challenges forms part of 
our work. This year, we turned our attention to 
problem-solving the local housing supply issue. 

Housing and land supply shortages have been a 
priority issue, given the constraints in the South 

West. 

In proactive ly finding innovative solutions to 
the local housing cris is, we consu lted with 

stakeholders including Loca l Government 
Authorities to identify a regionwide approach 

to tackling limitations This portfolio of work has 
incorporated a land activat ion investigation to 

develop recommendations for unlocking land 

for development. 

A housing forum wi ll be held in Bunbur·y early 

next financial year with Housing, Lands, 
Homelessness and Loca l Government Min ister 

John Carey. The aim of the forum wi ll be to 
discuss collaborative solutions to 2ictivate land 
and property investment, as we ll as worker 

accommodation shortages. 

Infrastructure and Lands Ill 

We visited Wi/yabrup Hemp House which was built using hemp bloc/.s 
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Jetty Baths Park celebration 

A community celebration was held on 
December 11 2021 to mark the official 
reopening of Jetty Baths Park ,n Bunbury, 
following a renewal project. 

Through the Casuarina Drive Redevelopment, 
which forms part of the wider Transforming 
Bunbury's Waterfront project, the park was 
made-over as a family-friendly destination 

The Jetty Baths Park refresh follows the renewal 
of other local foreshore areas through the 
Transforming Bunbury's Waterfront initiative. 

Previous efforts include the expansion and 
upgrade of the Dolph,n Discovery Centre, 
revitalisation of the Koombana Bay foreshore 
,nc/uding new landmark pec/estnan bridge, and 
Jetty Road Causeway upgrade. 

Infrastructure and Lands Ill 
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Business and Industry mJ 

Underpinning our job-creating agenda are effo,-ts to grow 
and diversify business and industry Our pursuit of economic 
prosperity aims for increased business participation and fulfilling 
and sustainable jobs 

Hospitality labour shortage response 

The South West is the most visited regional 
area in Western Australia - and its Busselton
Margaret Rive£ region a holiday hotspot In the 
lead up to the busy summer holidays, it became 
evident that there was a shortfall of workers to 
service tourism and hospitality businesses in the 
region during the peak season. 

Ski lls and labour shortages have been 

experienced widely across Austra lia, including 
in the South West region. In t he Busselton

Ma1·garet River t ourist destination, a hospita lity 
workforce shortage was amplified on the 

approach to the summer of 2021-22. To assist in 
fi lling immediate vacancies for the busy holiday 

period, a short-tenn worker attraction campaign 
was developed in consultation with industry and 

engagement with loca l high school s. 

With the aim of creating a pool of casual workers 
to fill vacancies, the 'ctrl your summer' campaign 

was launched to encourage 14 to 17 years 

to take up summer jobs. An on line platfo1·m 
ca lled Hospo Gigs was developed as a portal t o 

connect employers and jobseekers, expanding 

t o jobseekers of any age. 

Duri11g the exlended six-month pe1·iocl of the 

campaign, Hospo Gigs assisted with alleviating 

some o f Lhe pressuI es associated with the high 

volume of job vacancies in the region. 

A review identified that Hospo Gigs clearly filled 

a signific:rnt need at the time. Going forward, 

however, industry wanted to move to a moIe 

stl'ucturecl approach inco1 po1·ating training 

solutions, a broader range of skills, and wider 

reach. 

In May 2022, Tourism WA, 111 partnership with 

Australian HoLels Associat ion (AHA) launched 

westernaustra lia.jobs. This free Jobs boc1rd ancl 

ca1·eers website is specifica lly designed to host 

hospita lity and tourism vacancies, to attract 

jobseekers looking for work in WP,:s hotels, 

bars, pubs, taverns, restaurants and tourism 

businesses. 

Westemaustra lia.jobs is a pu1 pose-built platform 

that includes information onv1sa supprn t, seasonal 

work, 1egio11al destinations, funding incentives 

and tra1ni11g pathways. It also encourages job 

seekers to consider a career pathway in the WA 

hospitalily and tourism sector. 
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Business and Industry E 

Trade support for local businesses 

We deliver an Austrade service to lhe region that allows local businesses to tap ,nto the reach and 
expertise of an international trade support network. 

Access to export markets and trade activities, 
commercial advice, contacts and market entry 
assistance are part of the support we offer far 
the purpose of assisting local businesses to find 
success in the international marketplace. 

We wo,·k globa lly to pmduce I esu lts loca lly 

Our inbound trade missions have long been 

an effective way to li nk international buyers 

with South West bus inesses for the purpose 

of facilitating expmt opportunities. However, 

our regular schedu le of visiting delegations 

was interrupted because of COVI D-19-linked 

border closures. This financia l year was notable 

in that international buyers were fina lly able to 

return to the region fo llowing the COVI D- 19-

imposecl hiatus. 

We rol led out the welcome mat in May 2022 

for a group of importers we brought to the 

region to explore t1·ade opportunities directly 

with loca l food and beverages producers. The 

visitors from Asia and the Middle East met 

with South West premium food, wine and 

beverage producers, as paI·t of an arrangement 

to give local businesses a chance to expand their 

markets. The vIs1t marked the first inbound 

trade mission since the international border 
reopened. While virtual tastings have proven 

successful in achieving sales for loca l businesses, 

there is nothing like an inbound trade mission 
to showcase what our region has to offer the 
world. A number of programs and pmmotions 

have been scheduled for next financial year, 
including an inbound mission to time with the 

Fine Vines Festival in October 2022. 

We exceeded our services target of 55 by 

undertaking 106 services for 85 individual clients. 

Our efforts to strengthen international ties for 

the economic benefit of the region also included 

hosting high-ranking delegations from East Java 
for the purpose of collaborating 111 the areas of 

creative technologies and tourism. Members 
of the visiting group comprised Australian 
Consu late-General in Surabaya Fiona Hoggart, 

Consu l General of the Republic of Indonesia 
Listiana Operananta, Indonesian Vice Consul 
for Economic Affairs Ms Widya Fitri, and David 

Santoso of Singosari Digital Park in East Java. 
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Unlocking industry expansion - craft brewery sector 

At the Corn mission, we work to grow and diversify industry fo1 the purpose 
of supporting a strong and resilient economy that generates employment 
opportunities. 

As part of our efforts to unlock industry potentia l and rn line with our 
broader support for· food and beverage producers, we supported local 
craft breweries to take their· sector to the next level. 

Together with the Department of Primary lndust1·1es and Regional 
Development, we assisted br·eweries to progress a collaborative approach 
to taking their sector forward. 

A total of 11 loca l breweries joined the newly-formed South West Brewers 
Alliance to pursue a unified approach to developing the region as a unique, 
sustainable and prosperous location for craft breweries. Areas of focus 
include education and employment involving efforts to get courses up
and-running, export and logistics, beer and tourism, and envimnment, 
sustainability and community. We contributed to the seed funding and 
establishment of the Alliance and have been actively involved 111 pmv1d1ng 
advice and direction on export and marketing. 

The Commission is backing the development of the burgeoning brewing 
industr·y in the South West through export and tourism advice, gr ant 
funding and faci litation. 

Local Content Adviser Network 

Locally based representatives from the Department of Primary Industries 
and Regional Development's Local Content Adviser Network work closely 
with our team to connect local suppliers and contractors to major proJects. 
The team helps to equip local businesses so they are prepared to take up 
opportunities relating to major projects. 

Local businesses wanting to secure work on the $852 million Bunbury 
Outer Ring Road (BORR) project now have a dedicated helptng hand 
We now have a local content advisor, working with South West Gateway 
Alliance to deliver BORR in partnership with Main Roads. The role 1s to help 
connect businesses to the biggest infrastructure project to be undertaken 
in the South West. 

Business and Industry E 

IN FOCUS 

LeoLabs 

The appeal of the South West as a base for industry has been 
highlighted with world-leading space debns radar tracking company 
LeoLabs moving on plans to set up its first Australian-based radars ,n 
the region. 

The US company is intending to build a pair of radars in the Collie area 
that I viii track debns, satellites and objects in low earth orbit 

The new ground-based infrastructure will form part of a global 
network providing comprehensive coverage. The aim is to provide 
transparency in low earth orbit, prevent collisions and assist satellite 
operators to deploy their services safely. 

The selection of the South West as a location displays the region's 
capability to attract ground-breaking new industry, as well as 
confidence in the South West to be part of Western Australia's 
growing space sector. 
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Margaret River Free Range Eggs is taking its operations to the next level 
through a Regional Economic Development (RED) Grant. 

Strategic Proiects and Grants fm 

Regional Economic Development (RED) Grants 

As the locally-based tec1m coord111ating the State Government's Regional 
Economic Development Grants in the South West region, we are in a unique 
position to see first-hand the positive impact of our decision-mak111g when 
it comes to the strategic a/locatron of funding 

From affording businesses the 111ed11S to sca le-up whe1 e there &e growth 
opportunities to advancing industries through the adoption of new 

technology, ou1-grants a1-e contributing to a robust eco11 omy. 

Across the region, growth opportunities c1 1·e being unlock"d with support 

from our Regional Economic Development (RED) Grants. I his year, a total 
of five local businesses and organisations across diver<:,e industries shared 

in $549,181 through Round 4 of th" Stcite Government progi-am. 

This competitive grants program has a growing track reco1 cl for successfu lly 
supporting recipients t o take their operations to the 11ext level. Jobs 

creation, industry diversification, ski ll s development and increasing 
businesses productivity are just ~ome of the ways the fu11d1ng makes a 

positive impact. 

In supporting members of the commu111ty to prepa1 e to apply for 
Round 5 fund ing, we proactively organ1secl a series of g1·ant 1-eacliness 

workshops in Manjimup, Bus':,elton and Bu11bury. These well
attended events offe1·ed insights into the reasoning for government 

funding and what funding bodies are looking for when they assess fund ing 

appliec1tions. Resources, including videos, we1·e prepa1·ed to support 

locals 111 their grants application Journey. In a rnslomer-focused 
approach, our locally based team were on hand to answer queries during 

confidentia l one-on-one meetings, eithe1- in-person and virtually 
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IN FOCUS 

Origins Market 

With support from a RED Grant, the new Origins 
Market in Busse/ton 1s makmg food business 
dreams become reality. 

Local entrepreneurs can utilise an incubator 
kitchen, located withm the market. The 
commercial fact!ity is available for hire by start
ups, producers and market vendors wanting to 
use a professional kitchen to cook up culinary 
creations or move into value-adding 

In further backing of business aspirations, two 
business incubator stalls have been provided 
in the marketplace for start-ups wanting to sell 
their wares to an eager audience. 

Strategic Proiects and Grants fm 
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IN FOCUS 

Vee Two Australia 
Specialist motorcycle and parts manufacturer Vee Two Australia has been 
able to speed up production to meet world-demand for its highly-regarded 
classic Ducat, products, 

The Nannup-based business used a RED Grant to purchase a computensed 
access milling machine for the purpose of manufacturing complex 
motorcycle parts with one process, 

Previously, engine components were hand-made, The machine has enabled 
Vee Two to accelerate the pace of production for the niche international 
classic Ducati market 

Strategic Proiects and Grants fll 

IN FOCUS 

Nannup Tank 7 Mountain Bike Park 

Making the most of local scenery and terrain is the new Nannup Tank 7 
Mountain Bike Park, which serves to further position Nannup as a must
visit trail town 

The attraction is expected to be a magnet for tourists, which will help to 
drive diversification of Nannup 's economy by unlocking tht? town's tourism 
potential through building on its natural strengths as a mountain b1kmg 
destination 

More than 30,000 enthusiasts a year are expected to explore over 35 
kilometres of fresh trails 
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IN FOCUS 

Shelter Brewing Co 

Shelter Brewing Co ,n Busse/ton contmues to go from strength-to-strength 
with help from a Regional Economic Development (RED) Grant 

Shelter developed a second site for packagmg 24 months earlier than 
anticipated. 

Thanks to the support received from the RED Grant, Shelter has been able 
to produce beer and package ,t ,n cans, control costs, and create a more 
stable market -ready product without rely,ng on a third party. 

Shefte, has created and canned five core range beers which are now all ,n 

market across more than 280 retail outlets in Western Australia, with plans 
to access additional markets in the near future. 

The increased and advanced interest in Shelter's product has given them 
the busmess confidence to go forward with the second site for packaging 
earlier than planned. 

Strategic Proiects and Grants fm 

IN FOCUS 

ARM Nursery 

A South West nursery now has the eqwpment it needs to mcrease the rate 
of propagation to meet demand from growers for h1gh-qua/1ty grafted 
grapevmes. 

A RED Grant made it possible for AR/V1 Nurse,y in Capel to purchase state
of-the-art automatic grafting technology. 

The adoption of the new technology boosts the speed of the nursery 
propagation process, al/owmg a greater quantity and variety of high-quality 
grapevine material to be produced. 
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Strategic Proiects and Grants fljJ 

Advancing manufacturing 

We beheve we can capitalise on the region's strengths and leverage opportunities. Growing the 
manufacturing and technology sector 1n the South West has been a focus (or us. 

We pI ogressed the proposal fo1 an advanced 
manufacturing hub in the South West, 
cont, actmg Paxon Group to deliver a 
pr elrmi11ar·y assessment report rnto the viability 

of the concept. The report was completed 

in the financial year and provided sufficient 
justification for the concept to move to the next 

stage. Open dialogue has been under·taken 

Our well-attended robotics forum presented a fantastic opportunity for education and industry to 
come together with the view to inspiring col/aborat1on. 

with d var·iety of State agencies in designing the 

full feasibi lity study and business case, which rs 

expected to commence in 2022/23 

It is expected locd l businesses, education and 
research facrlrt1es would benefit f 1 om a common 
user faci lity rn the greater· Bunbur-y area. Such a 

facility wou ld rnuease loca l accC:!ss to innovdtrve 
services currently rmpi-actical to dccess for maI1y 
small to medium enterprises when developing 

loca l manufacturing programs 

A more diversified econ on Iy producing more 

complex innovations wou ld also open exciting 
careers for loca ls in fie lds such as robotics and 

automation. We believe that making 

these opportunities avai lable wil l benefit 
the ove,·all manutactu1 rng ecosystern rn the 

South West that can 111tegrate excellent 
freight l11 1kages with advanceu educat1or1 anu 

production capalirl1ties. 

Our investigdtrons suggest that er-eating 
links between manufacturing capacity 
and innovation w1th111 the South West and 

concentrali11g on oppori:unilies rn the Collie 

and Sunbury regions can create and sustain 

growth opportunities that would be globally 
competitive, servicing a wrcle rc\nge of clients 

from education, qualificat io11, [Jmduction 2,11d 
innovation. 
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Our chairman Nick Belyea speaks at the official opening 
of Capecare Dunsborough 

Strategic Proiects and Grants fljJ 

Addressing gaps in aged care 

For people to continue /,ving ,n the communities they call home as they age, 
they must have access to affordable and suitable accommodation options. 

Otherwise, they may have to move to a larger to111n or city - a1vay 
from their established support networks. 7 hat's where the Rt'g10nal 
Aged Acco, nmodation Program is making a big difference m 
towns Me Ounsborough and Oonnybroot 

In addressing gaps In aged care, we continued to bui ld the supply of 
affordable housing in the South West to enable people to age In the 

communities they ca ll home Projects made possib le through the State's 

Govemme11t Regional Aged Accornrnodation Program reached significant 
milestones during the year in review 

Capeca1·e Dunsborougl1 was officially opened on October· 7 2021 as the 
town's firs t fu lly integ1·ated aged care facility. The $-57.5 mill ion fac il ity, 

compr ising an 80-bed reside11tia l care facili ty and 21 independent living 

apartments, was suppo1·ted through a $2.5 mi ll ion grant. 

Meanwh ile, construction on the Bridge Street Housing proJect in 

Donnybrook n1oved forward. Fi11a11eial assistance 111 Lhe form of a $2 

mi llion grar rl is supporting t he development of 10 new indepe11clent livrng 
units make the leap from blueprint lo rea lity 
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Grants 

We invest ,n initiat,ves that support economic outcomes. 

Long-term va lue is provided i11 the form of growth, diversity and Jobs. 

Botl1 our Regional Economic Development (RED) Gra11Ls and Coll ie 
Fu lures Fund provide platforms for growth. 

We cont inue to admin iste1· eleclion commitment grants. 

The fo llowing tables list the new grn11ts allocated t his f inanc.ic:1 1 year. 

Regional Economic Development (RED) Grants 

Through the Regional Economic Development (RED) Grants, the State 
Government is investing ,n projects that unlock regional economic potential 
and support jobs ,n regional Western Australia. 

The RED Grants Program 1s a $45.8 mill ion state-wide government 
inilic1tive that invests in loca lly driven projects that stimu late job ueation 
and econom ic growth in regional areas. The program wi ll invest $5.096 
m ill ion over eight years into t he Sout h West region. 

In 2021 /22, t he fo llowing grants were allocat ed t hrough Round 4 of the 
prog1·arn, ahead of Round 5 opening. 

RCR Mining Technologies will msta/1 a robotic welder with support from a 
Regional Economic Development (RED) Grant. 

Strategic Proiects and Grants fljJ 

RED Grants - Round 4 

Grant Apµ licBnt 

Margaret River 
Free Range Eggs 

Margaret River 
Busselton Tourism 
Association 

Hemp Squared 

Hidden River 
Estate 

RCR Mining 
Technologies 

PruJ<eci Dc,c, 1pt10n 

Advanced Climatically Controlled Egg 
Processing Plant: Funding to suppo1·t the 
construction of an advanced climatically 
controlled egg processing facility near 
Margaret River. 

Eagles He1·itage Capacity and Experience 
Enhancement Pr·oject: The visitor 
expe1·ience at this raptor wildlife centre 
near Margaret River will be enhanced 
through cultu ral tourism with an audio 
discovery tour along with a f\Joongar 
six seasons interpretive display and l1ghti11g 
fo, night tours. 

Hemp Squared Manufacturing Expansion 
Project: Funding will supµor·t this start-up 
to commercialise through construction of 
a new shed, pneumatic block presses and 
ancillary equipment. 

South West Strawbe1-ry Propagation 
Project: The funding will support Hidden 
River Estate to significantly scale-up 
pmpagation of potted strawbei-ry 
seedlings (plugs) grown for distribution to 
WA growers, establishing a one-of-a-kind 
niche commercial-seal<? industry in the 
South West. 

Grant Amount 

$150,000 

$700,000 

$100,000 

$700,000 

Apron Feeder Components Robotic $99,181 
Welder·: Funding will support the purchase 
and inst allation of a robotic welder to 
automate production of an RCR product, 
maximising output and building capacity in 
advanced manufacturing. 
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Collie Futures Fund 

Through the Collie Futures Fund, the State Government is making available 
funding to drive economic diversification and create jobs in the Collie 
region. 

The Fund wi ll help the region to transition to a more sustainable economy 

with a more even spread of employment across a greater range of indust1·ies 

and a reduced reliance on any one sector. 

The Collie Futures Fund is being delivered th rough two key programs: 

Coll ie Futures Industry Development Fund 

Co ll ie Futures Small Grants Program 

The South West Development Commission administers the Coll ie Futu1 es 
Small Grants Program. For t he Collie Futures lndust1 y Development 

Fu nd, we undertake the assessment and due d iligence. The g1 ant then 

progresses to The Depa1·tment of Jobs, Tourism, Science and Innovation 
(JTSI) for administ rat ion and implementation . Note: Additiona l support is 

provided t hrough the Industry Attract ion and Development Fund . 

Strategic Proiects and Grants flll 

Collie Futures Small Grants Program 

Grant Apµl,c~nt 

Collie Cycle Club 

Sh ire of Collie 

Adventu1 e 

Connect ions 

Australia 

Ferguson Gate 

PruJect Descr qJt11.m Ci, ant /\muunt 

Coll ie Labour Day Festival 111 2023 and $90,000 
2024: Making the most of the Coll ie River 
Va lley's natural assets, the festival brings 
togethe1 locals and visitors to en Joy an array 
of recreational activ1t1es and competitions, 
includ ing freshwater fishing, mountain 
biking and water skiing. 

'Celebrating Collie's History and Promot ing $100,000 
Its Future': The Shire of Collie wi ll bring 
t ogether a program of existing and new 
events celebrating Col lie. The series of 
events to take place under the 'Celelxating 
Col lie's History and Promot ing Its Futu1 e' 
banner aim to capture the I ichness of 
Co llie's indust1·ial history and showcase how 
the South West town has changed. 

Advent ure Connect ions. Wi ll expand from $99,760 
a sooal enteqxise t o offering mounta in 
bike activities and adventure tou rs for a 
wider market. 

Ferguson Gate: To t 1 ansform a disused $100,000 
property into an accessible and pet-
fri end ly short-term accommodation to be 

known as Wambenger Lodge. 
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Introduction 
Other grants RECIPlrnT PROJECT TITLE A,, ,our, t($) 

We invest in initiatives that align with our strategic objectives. BSWConnect 
2022 South West Business Excellence $6,000 

Overview and 
Awards 

Performance Tabled is a list of new grants allocated that were not part of either the Shire of Collie Collie Aerodrome Master Plan $30,000 

State of the Region 
Regional Economic. Development (RED) Grants or Collie Futures Fund. City of Busselton 

& City of Bunbury 
South West Cities Focus $15,000 

Or.,.;mic:ation 
RECIPI EI\IT Pl~OJECT TI TLE f\rnoum ($) Shire of Capel Kaatijinup Biodive1·sity Park Feasibility $15,000 - -- - - Study 

Strings Attached 2027 Western Australian $5,000 Strings Attached Guitar Festival Shire of Augusta Business Case Development - Childcare 
Strategic Priorities 

City of Busselton Margaret Rive1· Service Augusta $70,000 

, , ,11,. - rt on behalfofthe South West Regional Waste Group $70,000 Shire of Dardanup Hydrogen Feasibility Study $40,000 
SW Regional Integrated Waste Management Plan 

I, I .. , ·, 11· ,1, 1. r,. Waste Group Geographe 
1 ·,:! 1r,tl'- Koombana Bay 

French Australian CinefestOZ Strategic Direction and $10,000 
Western Breakwater Detailed Design $100,000 Festivals Business Plan 2023 - 2028 

rJ l:'Y -,nil Sailing Club Incorporated 
11 (J ,:,.f : Shire of Augusta Augusta Margaret River Public A1·ts Trail $70,000 Caroline James 

■ Strategic Projects 
Margaret River Events 

Pinot Picnic 2023 $15,000 

2022 Western Dair·y South West Business 
and Grants Western Dairy $5,000 Motivation 2022 Mid-Year Intake fm Disengaged Luncheon 

Foundation Ltd Collie Youth $20,000 

Shire of 
Legal and Reporting Bridgetown Geegelup Brook Concept Design $5,000 Bunbu1·y Trotting Bunbury Trotting Club Community $10,000 

Green bushes Club Playground 
Financials 2022 Noongar Country Exhibition - City of Bunbury Withers Placemaking $60,000 

City of Bunbury Emerging Artist Award 
$2,000 

Agrista1 t Pty Ltd 
Sunbury South West Future Jobs Skills - Virtual Geographe $5,000 

t/as Innovation Small Production Studio Fitout $7,500 Economic Alliance Conference 

Cluster 
Shire of Augusta 

Geographe Margaret River South West Design Review Panel $3,000 

French Aust1 alian CinefestOZ lndust1·y Program 2022-2024 $45,000 
Festivals Undalup Business Development Support $10,000 
Incorporated Association 

Collie Chamber Manjimup Truffle Manjimup Truffle and Wine Festival 2022 $7,500 
of Commerce and South32 Collie Small Business Awards $2,000 & Wine Festival 
Industry WA Guitar Festival WAGF Professional Development 
City of Busselton 2022 City of Busselton Economic Forum $5,500 Inc Workshops 

$10,000 
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Disclosures, legal and reporting requirements 

Financial statements 

A copy of our detai led financia l statements are located on page 57. 

Note: Under section 14 of the Auditor General Act 2006, the Auditor· General 
has decided to dispense with the audit of South West Development 
Commission for the year ended 30 June 2022 As required by the Auditor 
General Act 2006, the Audrtor General consulted with the Treasurer prior 
to making this clecrsion. 

Ministerial directives 

There were no Ministeria l d irectives. 

Freedom of information 

There were two freedom of information requests. 

Credit cards 

The Commission itself holds five corporate uedit cards. These cards are 
used for officia l and appmved work purposes. 

Capital expenditure 

There was no capital expendit ure. 

Contact with senior officers 

Other than normal contracts of employment of service, no senior officers, 
or firms of wh ich senior members are members, or entities rn which 
sen ior members have substantial interests had any interest in existing 01· 

proposed contracts with the Commission and senior officers. 

Board meetings 

Board altendance was as follows: 

Bcldrd Men,be, r,.t1,,et11 ,g, Attended l\1t><et111gs E:lig,ble To Att<e11d 
---

Nick Belyea 5 5 

Pat Sca llan 4 5 

Tony Dean 5 5 

Catrin A llsop 2 5 

Tresslyn Smith 5 5 

Lou ise Reid 5 5 

Board Subcommittees 

Attendance of the Audit and Risk Committee was as follows· 

Bocird Member M<eet1r1gs Attend,,d t-•le0t1n,1;s 1::1,g,bl,~ To /\tte11d 

Nick Belyea 3 3 

Pat Sca llan 3 3 

Board Remuneration 

Board remuneration was as fo llows: 

Position Title Type of Re, nune,1 at,on Base Si1IJ1 v / Sitting Fees 

Chairman Annual sa lary p lus any $63,000 per annum 

_______ t_ravel and expenses 

Deputy Chairman 

Members 

Board sitting fee plus 

$5000 and any travel 

e~r2_ns_e_s __ 
$622 per meeting 

(fu ll day) or $403 per 
meeting (part day) 

$ 790 per fu ll day or 

$513 per half clay plus 

$5000 per annum 
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Disclosures, legal and reporting requirements 

Expenditure on advertising, market research, polling and 
direct mail 

We incuri·ed the fo llowing expenditure in aclve1·tising, ma1·ket research, 

poll ing, direct mail and media advertising: 

Advert - General - Public Notices $3508.23 
Advert - General - Agencies $1055.72 
Advert - General - Other $1433.79 
Promotional - M ateria ls - Printi ng Costs $2210.26 
Publications - Pri nting Costs $3798.03 

Record-keeping 

The Commiss ion's Record Keeping Plan deta ils the record keeping program 
for the agency. This plan guides wh ich records are to be created and how 

t hose records are to be kept . The Commission keeps comprehensive 
records, with the assistance of HP Trim Reco1·ds Management System. 

To help staff meet t heir recordkeeping requirements, all employees are 

encou1·aged to complet e corporate trai ning to get a better understanding 

of D PI RD and its responsibilit ies, incl ud ing record keeping awareness. 

Across our organisation, we consistently identify ways to improve 

our systems, policies and procedures. Duri ng the year 111 review, our 
staff members improved efficiencies with substant ial modernisation in 
some areas. 

Government policy requirements 

We are committed to meeting policy requirements, and provid ing an 

environment which operates in accordance to best practice. As employees 

now operate under the Department of Primary Industries and Regiona l 

Development, some of t he information re lating to policies is held by the 

Department . Du ring t he year in review, we updat ed the Commission's 
policies. We reviewed 53 polices. We abolished 10 (superseded or merged 
into others) 

WA Multicultural Policy Framework 

The Western Aust1·alian Multicu ltu ral Policy F1·amewo1 k was launched 
on 17 March 2020. The framework was developed in response to the 
State's growing diversity, where more than 32 per cent of people are 
born overseas. It translates t he principles and objectives of the WA 
Charter of Multicu lLura lism (2004) into mulLicu ltu rcd policy priorities, 
out comes, strategies and measures for WA public secto1 agencies. The 
DPI RD Plan se ts out the tangiule ways i11 wh ich DPIRD a11d the re levant 
Regiona l Development Commissions wi ll woI k to achieve t he policy 
priorities, outcomes and strat egies of the frameworl fo r the Cul lur·ally and 
Linguistically Diver·se (CaLD) community of Western Austra lia. SWDC 
was among the RDCs which participated in the DPIRD Multicultura l 
Plan and, as such, was not required to create a separate plan. As part 
of DPIRD's commitment, we strive to provide goods, services, faci lities 
and employment opportunities in such a way that cliff erent needs and 
aspirat ions of communities are met. 

Occupational safety, health and injury prevention 

We are committed to achieving a high standard of occupational safety, 
health and injury managemer 1t, Fo llowing the Occupational Safety dnd 
Healt h Act 1984 and the WA Government's code of practice Occupationa l 
Safety and Hea lth in the Western Austra lia Public SecLor. Staff members 
assist to maintain a safe and healthy worl<.place by being encouraged to play 
an active role in hazard identification, risk management and risk control 
processes, with risks to be reported to their manager· or enter·ing incidents in 
the central register. In our commitment to having a workplace free of inJury 
and in reflection of our staff bei11g requ ired to visit proj ects that are in t he 
construction stage, we supply h&d hats and high-visibil ity vests. 

Number of fata lities 

Lost time inj ury/ d iseases 
(LTI / D) incidence r·at e 

Lost time injury severity rate 

Target 2021/ 22 Actual 2021 /22 

0 0 

0 0 

0 0 
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Disclosures, legal and reporting requirements 

Disability access and inclusion plan outcomes 

The Commission is committed to promoting an inclusive environment in 

wh ich all people can access our services and faci lities. DPIRD's Disabi lity 

Access and Inclusion Plan (DAI P) 207 8-23 was developed in consu l la lion 

with the DAIP Working Group, Depa1·tme11t of Communities, Regional 

Development Commissions, peak bodies and people with disabi lity and 

the DPIRD Communications branch. 

Our efforts in this aI·ea complement ou I· commitment to ensuring an 

inclusive region in wh ich all people enjoy a high quality of life and are ab le 
to participate in community life und pursue interests without restriction 
based on abi lity. In accordance with the Disabi lity Services Act 1993 and 

Schedu le 3 of the Disabi lity Services Regu lations 2004, the department 
continues to implement strategies and in itiatives in support of the seven 
access and inclusion outcomes identif ied in its Disabi lity Access and 

Inclusion Plan (DAIP) 207 8-23 . 

Compliance with public sector standards and ethical codes 

DPIRD has developed policy, guidelines and processes to support 
compliance with Public Sector standards and ensure all associated activities 

are undertaken in a professiona l and unbiased manneI-. Employees are 

informed of updates to policies, and these are available on intranet sites. 

Policies are also disseminated to all staff 

Government building training policy 

The Government Bui lding Training Policy aims to increase the numbe1 of 
app1·entices and trainees in t he building and const1·uct ion i11dust1 y 

It does so by requ iring contract ors awarded Stat e Government bui lding, 
construct ion and maintenance contracts to commit to meeting a target 

training 1·ate by employing construction appI entices and trainees. 

Infrastructure proJects we wei-e involved 111, including 

Tr,rnsforming Bunbury's Waterfront, suppo1·t apprenlices. 

Substantive equality 

The Commission encourages and va lues a diverse and 111clus1ve woi-kplace. 

We emphasise that all employees recognise and respect the 
diversity of backgrounds, beliefs and expe1·iences that exist within our 

workforce and ouI· community. Such an environment is dependent on 

being free from all forms of harassment, victimisation and 
discrimination relating to employment and opportunity. 

Framework 
:::021122 2021/22 

Budget Actual Variance 

Financial targets 

Total cost of services 8,452 5,675 2,837 

Net cost of service 8,797 5,464 2,727 

Total equit :t 79,826 2'1,093 -7,267 

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash held -830 -460 -370 

Approved salary expense leve l 204 294 90 

KPI 

Customer satisfaction survey 90% 90% 0% 

Average cost per hour $144 $725 -$7 9 

2021 2027 
Agreed Target(1) / 

limit Actual(2) Variance 
($000) ($000) ($000) -

Working Cash Targets 

Agreed wo1·king cash limit (at Budget) 52 52 N/A 

Agreed work ing cash limit (at Actua ls) 43 587 538 

' .. 
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Disclosures and Legal Compliance 

Certification of Financial Statements 

For the reporting period ended 30 June 2022 

South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

The accompanying financial statements of the South West Development Commission have been prepared in compliance with the prov1s1ons of the Financial 
Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the reporting period ended 30 June 2022 and the financial 
position as at 30 June 2022. 

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate. 

C46)~, 
Carolyn Gibbon 
Chief Finance Officer 
6 September 2022 

,._ 

Nick Belyea 
Chairman of the Board 
6 September 2022 

~~ 
Mellisa Teede 
Chief Executive Officer 
6 September 2022 
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South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

COST OF SERVICES 
Expenses 
Employee benefits expense 
Supplies and services 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 
Grants and subsidies 
Other expenses 
Total cost of services 

Income 
Commonwealth grants 
Other income 
Total income 

NET COST OF SERVICES 

Income from State Government 
Income from other public sector entities 
Resources received 
Total income from State Government 
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) 
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 
Changes in asset revaluation reserve 
Total other comprehensive income/(loss) 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD 

Notes 

2.1(a) 
2.3 

4.1, 4.2, 4.3 
2.2 
2.3 

3.2 
3.3 

3.1 
3.1 

8.9 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

2022 2021 
$'000 $'000 

336 258 
4,346 3,752 

380 368 
496 789 
107 175 

5,665 5,342 

83 30 
68 139 

151 169 

5,514 5,173 

738 1,015 
3,875 3,604 
4,613 4,619 

@Q.!L (554) 

943 139 
943 139 

42 (415) 
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Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2022 

ASSETS 
Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Restricted cash and cash equ ivalents 
Receivables 
Other current assets 
Total Current Assets 

Non-Current Assets 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
Amounts receivable for services 
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 
Total Non-Current Assets 
TOTAL ASSETS 

LIABILITIES 
Current Liabilities 
Payables 
Employee related provisions 
Total Current Liabilities 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 

NET ASSETS 

EQUITY 
Contributed equity 
Reserves 
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 
TOTAL EQUITY 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

Notes 

6.3 
6.3 
5.1 
5.3 

6.3 
5.2 
4.1 

5.4 
2.1(b) 

8.9 
8.9 

2022 
$'000 

581 
1,255 

27 

1,863 

11 
1,253 

18,222 
19,486 
21,349 

193 
63 

256 

256 

21,093 

23,679 
11,133 

(13,719} 
21,093 

2021 
$'000 

1,228 
1,068 

85 

2,381 

11 
1,253 

17,659 
18,923 

.. ___ 2_1,304 

213 
40 

253 

253 

21 ,051 

23,679 
10,190 

(12,818) 
21 ,051 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

Balance at 1 July 2020 

Deficit 
Other comprehensive income 
Total comprehensive income for the period 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners: 
Capital appropriations 
Total 
Balance at 30 June 2021 

Balance at 1 July 2021 

Deficit 
Other comprehensive income 
Total comprehensive income for the period 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners: 
Capital appropriations 
Total 
Balance at 30 June 2022 

Notes Contributed equity 
$'000 

23,679 

8.9 

8.9 

23,679 

23,679 

8.9 

8.9 

23,679 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

Reserves Accumulated surplus Total equity 
$'000 $'000 $'000 

10,051 (12,264) 21,466 

(554) (554) 
139 139 
139 (554) (415) 

10,190 (12,818) 21,051 

10,190 (12,818) 21,051 

(901) (901) 
943 943 
943 (901) 42 

11,133 (13,719) 21,093 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 
Funds from other publ ic sector entities 
Net cash provided by State Government 
Utilised as follows: 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Payments 
Employee benefits 
Supplies and services 
Grants and subsidies 
GST payments on purchases 
Other payments 

Receipts 
Commonwealth grants and contributions 
GST receipts on sales 
GST rece ipts from taxation authority 
Other rece ipts 
Net cash used in operating activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Payments 
Purchase of non-current assets 
Net cash used in investing activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Payments 
Principal elements of lease payments 
Net cash used in financing activities 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

Notes 
2022 
$'000 

738 
738 

(306) 
(498) 
(496) 
(104) 
(107) 

83 
34 
69 

127 
(1,198) 

(460) 
2,307 

6.3 1,847 

2021 
$'000 

941 
941 

(229) 
(22) 

(789) 
(100) 
(175) 

30 
47 
14 

154 
(1,070) 

(129) 
2,436 

2,307 
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South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

Notes to the financial statements 

1. Basis of Preparation 

The South West Development Commission (Commission) is a WA Government entity and is controlled by the State of Western Australia, which is the ultimate parent. 
The Commission is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective). A description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities have been 
included in the 'Overview' which does not form part of these financial statements . 

These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Accountable Authority of the Commission on 6 September 2022. 

Statement of compliance 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with : 

1 The Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA) 

2 The Treasurer's Instructions (Tis) 

3 Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) - Simplified Disclosures 

4 Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable for not-for-profit entities have been applied . 

The FMA and the Tis take precedence over AASs. Several AAS are modified by the Instructions to vary application , disclosure format and wording . Where modification 
is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in 
the notes to the financial statements. 

Basis of preparation 

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the accrual basis of accounting and using the historical cost convention. Certain balances will 
apply a different measurement basis (such as the fair value basis). Where this is the case the different measurement basis is disclosed in the associated note. All 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($'000). 

Accounting of Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except that the: 

(a) amount of GST incurred by the Agency as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is recognised as part of an asset's cost 
of acquisition or as part of an item of expense; and 

(b) receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of cash flows on a gross basis. However, the GST components of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows. 

8 
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South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

Notes to the financial statements 

Contributed Equity 

Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a 
result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, as designated as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to, transfer) be recognised as equity 
contributions . Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by Tl 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector 
Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity. 

Comparative information 

Except when an AAS permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is presented in respect of the previous period for all amounts reported in the financial 
statements. AASB 1060 provides relief from presenting comparatives for Property, Plant and Equipment reconciliations. 

Judgements and estimates 

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial information being presented . The significant judgements and estimates made in the 
preparation of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes where amounts affected by those judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. 

2. Use of Our Funding 

Expenses incurred in the delivery of services 

This section provides additional information about how the Commission's funding is applied and the accounting policies that are relevant for an understanding of the 
items recognised in the financial statements. The primary expenses incurred by the Commission in achieving its objectives and the relevant notes are: 

Employee benefits expenses 
Employee benefits provisions 
Grants and subsidies 
Other expenditure 

2.1. (a) Employee benefits expenses 

Employee benefits 
Superannuation - defined contribution plans 

Total employee benefits expenses 
Add : AASB 16 Non-monetary benefits 

Net employee benefits 

2022 
$'000 

302 
34 

336 

--
336 

Notes 
2.1(a) 
2.1 (b) 

2.2 
2.3 

2021 
$'000 

231 
27 

258 

258 
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South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

Notes to the financial statements 

Employee Benefits: include wages and salaries, accrued and paid leave entitlements and paid sick leave. 

Superannuation: The amount recognised in profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent 
contributions) , the WSS, the GESBs, or other superannuation funds. 

AASB 16 Non-monetary benefits: non-monetary employee benefits, that are employee benefits expenses, predominantly relate to the provision of Vehicle and 
Housing benefits are measured at the cost incurred by the Commission. 

2.1. (b) Employee related provisions 

2022 2021 
$'000 $'000 

Current 
Employee benefits provisions 
Annual leave 42 26 
Long service leave 20 13 

62 39 
Other provisions 
Employment on-costs 1 
Total current employee related provisions 63 40 

Total employee related provisions 63 40 

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave for services rendered up to the reporting 
date and recorded as an expense during the period the services are delivered. 

Annual leave liabilities: Classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. The 
provision for annual leave is calculated at the present value of expected payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up to the reporting date. 

Long service leave liabilities: Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Commission does not have an unconditional right 
to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Commission has an unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. 

The provision for long service leave is calculated at present value as the Commission does not expect to wholly settle the amounts within 12 months. The present 
value is measured taking into account the present value of expected future payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up to the reporting 
date. These payments are estimated using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement, and discounted using market yields at the end of the 
reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

10 
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South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

Notes to the financial statements 

2.1 (b) Employee related provisions (continued) 

Employment on-costs: The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers' compensation 
insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments. 

Employment on-costs, including workers' compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the 
employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of 'other expenses, Note 2.3 (apart from the unwinding of the discount 
(finance cost))' and are not included as part of the Commission's 'employee benefits expense' . The related liability is included in 'Employment on-costs provision'. 

Employment on cost provision 
Carrying amount at start of period 
Additional/(reversals of) provisions recognised 
Carrying amount at end of period 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty- long service leave 

2022 
$'000 

1 

1 

2021 
$'000 

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating the Commission's long service leave provision. These include: 
• expected future salary rates 
• discount rates 
• employee retention rates; and 
• expected future payments 

Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision . Any gain or loss following revaluation of the 
present value of long service leave liabilities is recognised as employee benefits expense. 

2.2. Grants and Subsidies 

Non Public organisations 
Public sector organisations 
Local Government agencies 
Total recurrent grants and subsidies 

2022 
$'000 

137 

359 
496 

2021 
$'000 

460 
50 

279 
789 

Transactions in which the Commission provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour to another party without receiving approximately equal 
value in return are categorised as 'Grant expenses'. Grants can either be operating or capital in nature. 

11 
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South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

Notes to the financial statements 

2.2 Grants and Subsidies (continued) 

Grants can be paid as general purpose grants which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be paid as specific 
purpose grants which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions attached regarding their use. 

Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than contribution to owners) are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are paid or payable. 
They include transactions such as: grants, subsidies, personal benefit payments made in cash to individuals , other transfer payments made to public sector agencies , 
local government, non-government schools, and community groups. 

2.3. Other expenditure 

2022 2021 
$'000 $'000 

Supplies and services 
Board fees 73 84 
Communications 3 14 
Consultants and contractors 268 22 
Consumables 14 3 
Travel 10 12 
Other 103 13 
Resources provided free of charge by DPIRD (a) 3,875 3,604 
Total supplies and services expense 4,346 3,752 

Other expenses 
Building and infrastructure maintenance 104 108 
Donations and sponsorships 2 13 
Other expenses 1 54 
Total other expenses 107 175 
Total other expenditure 4,453 3,927 

(a) Support Services provided by Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development to support the Commission in the fulfilment of its statutory functions and obligations 
under the Regional Development Commission Act 1993. See note 3.1 Income from State Government. 

Supplies and services expenses are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. The carrying amounts of any materials held for 
distribution are expensed when the materials are distributed. 

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations . 

Building and infrastructure maintenance costs are recognised as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the replacement of a significant component of 
an asset. In that case, the costs are capitalised and depreciated. 

12 
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South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

Notes to the financial statements 

3. Our Funding Sources 

How we obtain our funding 

This section provides additional information about how the Commission obtains its funding and the relevant accounting policy notes that govern the recognition and 
measurement of this funding . The primary income received by the Commission and the relevant notes are: 

Income from State Government 
Commonwealth grants 
Other income 

3.1. Income from State Government 

Income received from other public sector entities during the period: 
- Department of Justice - Withers Urban Renewal Project 
- Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development - operational 

funding 
Total grants and subsidies 

Resources received from other public sector entities during the period: 
- Services received free of charge (a) 

Total resources received 

Total income from State Government 

2022 
$'000 

310 

428 
738 

3,875 
3,875 

4,613 

Notes 
3.1 
3.2 
3.3 

2021 
$'000 

170 

845 
1,015 

3,604 
3,604 

4,619 

(a) Support Services provided by Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development to support the Commission in the fulfilment of its statutory functions and obligations 
under the Regional Development Commission Act 1993. See note 2.3 Other expenditure. 

Income from other public sector agencies is recognised as income when the Commission has satisfied its performance obligations under the funding agreement. 
If there are no performance obligations, income will be recognised when the Commission receives the funds. 

Resources received from other public sector entities are recognised as income (and assets or expenses) equivalent to the fair value of the assets, or the fair value 
of those services that can be reliably determined and which would have been purchased if not donated. 
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Notes to the financial statements 

3.2. Commonwealth grants 

Recurrent grants 

Recurrent grants are recognised as income when the grants are receivable . 

3.3. Other income 

Other sundry income 

4. Key Assets 

Assets the Commission utilises for economic benefit or service potential 

South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

2022 
$'000 

83 

2022 
$'000 

68 

2021 
$'000 

30 

2021 
$'000 

139 

This section includes information regarding the key assets the Commission utilises to gain economic benefits or provide service potential. The section sets out both 
the key accounting policies and financial information about the performance of these assets. 

4.1. Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 

Year ended 30 June 2022 

1 July 2021 

Gross carrying amount 

Accumulated depreciation 

Accumulated impairment loss 

Carrying amount at start of period 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in other 
comprehensive income 

Depreciation 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2022 

Gross carrying amount 

Accumulated depreciation 

Accumulated impairment loss 

Land1•l 

$'000 

4,396 

4,396 

653 

5,049 

5,049 

Buildings 

$'000 

13,208 

13,20_8 

290 

(380) 

13,118 

13,118 

Office equipment 

$'000 

199 

(199) 

198 

(198) 

Infrastructure 

$'000 

809 

(172) 

632 

5 

5 

809 

(172) 

(632) 

Works of art 

$'000 

50 

50 

50 

50 

Total 

$'000 

18,662 

(371) 

632 

17,659 

943 

(380) 

18,222 

19,224 

(370) 

(632) 

(a) The Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage (DPLH) is the only Department with the power to sell Crown land. The land is transferred to DPLH for sale and the Commission accounts for the transfer 
as a distribution to owner. 
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South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

Notes to the financial statements 

4.1 Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Initial recognition 

Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure, costing $5,000 or more are measured initially at cost. Where an asset is acquired for no cost or significantly 
less than fair value, the cost is valued at its fair value at the date of acquisition. Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing less than $5,000 are 
immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total) . 

The cost of a leasehold improvement is capitalised and depreciated over the shorter of the remaining term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the leasehold 
improvement. 

Subsequent measurement 

Subsequent to initial recognition of an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land , buildings and infrastructure. 

Land is carried at fair value. 

Buildings and infrastructure are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

All other property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate) and recognised annually to ensure that the 
carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset's fair value at the end of the reporting period . 

Land and buildings were revalued at 1 July 2021 by Landgate. The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2022 and recognised at 30 June 2022. 
In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for land: $3,060,000 (2021 : $2,970,000 ). Fair value of buildings was 
determined on the basis of current replacement cost: $13,055,000 (2021 : $13,144,700) and balance of the fair value of land was determined on the basis of comparison 
with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land). 

Infrastructure is independently valued every 3 to 5 years by Landgate. Infrastructure assets were independently revalued by Landgate as at 30 June 2019. 

Fair value for infrastructure assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the current 
replacement cost. Current replacement cost is generally determined by reference to the market observable replacement cost of a substitute asset of comparable utility 
and the gross project size specifications, adjusted for obsolescence. Obsolescence encompasses physical deterioration, functional (technological) obsolescence and 
economic (external) obsolescence. 

Significant assumptions and judgements: The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the 
existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated economic life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear 
distinction between market type assets and existing use assets. 
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South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

Notes to the financial statements 

4.1.1. Depreciation and impairment 

Buildings depreciation for the period 

2022 
$'000 

380 

2021 
$'000 

368 

As at 30 June 2022, there were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment except for infrastructure which was impaired in 2018-19 and indicators 
have not changed since. This impairment is related to the Pemberton Hydro Power Station which has been non-operational since 2011 and its financial performance 
during operation was only 6% of what had been anticipated. 

All surplus assets at 30 June 2022 have either been classified as assets held for sale or have been written-off. 

Finite useful lives 

All infrastructure, property, plant and equipment having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects 
the consumption of their future economic benefits . The exceptions to this rule include assets held for sale , land and investment properties. 

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the asset's value, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. 
Typical estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for current and prior years are as follows: 

• Buildings 
• Office equipment 
• Infrastructure 

20 to 40 years 
3 to 10 years 
20 to 29 years 

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, and adjustments should be made where 
appropriate. 

Land and works of art which are considered to have an indefinite life, are not depreciated. Depreciation is not recognised in respect of these assets because their 
service potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period . 

Impairment 

Non-financial assets, including items of property, plant and equipment, are tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. 
Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised . 

Where an asset measured at cost is written down to its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised through profit or loss. 
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South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

Notes to the financial statements 

4.1.1 Depreciation and impairment (continued) 

Where a previously revalued asset is written down to its recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement through other comprehensive income. 

As the Commission is a not-for-profit entity, the recoverable amount of regularly revalued specialised assets is anticipated to be materially the same as fair value. 

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased to its recoverable amount. However this reversal should 
not increase the asset's carrying amount above what would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation , if no impairment loss had been recognised in 
prior years. 

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset's depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where 
there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level 
of consumption or expiration of the asset's future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from declining replacement costs. 

5. Other Assets and Liabilities 

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Commission's controlled operations and includes other assets utilised for economic benefits and 
liabilities incurred during normal operations: 

Receivables 
Amounts receivable for services 
Payables 

5.1. Receivables 

Current 
GST receivable 
Other debtors 
Total current receivables 

2022 
$'000 

27 

27 

Note 
5.1 
5.2 
5.3 

2021 
$'000 

26 
59 
85 

Trade receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any allowances for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment) . The carrying amount of net trade 
receivables is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days. 
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South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

Notes to the financial statements 

5.2. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account) 

Non-current at end of period 

2022 
$'000 
1,253 

2021 
$'000 
1,253 

Amounts receivable for services represent the non-cash component of service appropriations . It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or 
payment of leave liability. Amounts receivable for services are considered not impaired (i .e. there is no expected credit loss of the Holding Account). 

5.3. Payables 

Trade payables 
Other payables 
Accrued expenses 
Accrued salaries 
Total current other payables 

2022 
$'000 

177 
10 

6 

193 

2021 
$'000 

62 

148 
3 

213 

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Commission becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. 
The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days. 

6. Financing 

This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the financing and cash flows of the Commission . 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Capital commitments 

Note 
6.1 
6.2 
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Notes to the financial statements 

6.1. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Non-restricted Cash and cash equivalents 

Non-Royalties for Regions fund restricted cash 
Picton Land Development 
South West Event 
Tradestart 
Withers Urban Renewal 
Land Asset Management - SWDC 
Royalties for Regions Fund Projects Restricted cash 
Regional Grant Scheme 
Local Project Local Jobs 
Community Chest Grants Scheme 
Current restricted cash and cash equivalents 

Non-current restricted cash and cash equivalents 
Accrued salaries suspense account (bl 

Total cash and cash equivalents 

South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

2022 2021 
$'000 $'000 

581 1,228 

553 553 
33 33 

266 234 
186 118 

15 15 

153 80 
14 
35 35 

1,255 1,068 

11 11 

1,847 2,307 

(a) Funds held in the suspense account used only for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years. This account is classified as 
non-current for 10 out of 11 years . 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term 
deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in 
value. 

6.2. Capital Commitments 

There are no known capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the financial statements (2021 : 
None). 
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South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

Notes to the financial statements 

7. Financial instruments and Contingencies 

Financial instruments 
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 

7.1. Financial Instruments 

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are: 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Financial assets at amortised cost (a) 

Total financial assets 

Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (bl 

Total financial liabilities 

(a) The amount of financial assets at amortised cost excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable). 

(b) The amount offinancial liabilities at amortised cost excludes GST payable to the ATO (statutory payable). 

7.2. Contingent assets and liabilities 

2022 
$'000 

1,847 
1,253 
3,100 

193 
193 

Note 
7.1 
7.2 

2021 
$'000 

2,307 
1,312 
3,619 

213 
213 

Contingent assets and liabilities are not recogn ised in the statement of financial position but are disclosed and , if quantifiable, are measured at the best estimate. 

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively. 

There were no contingent assets or liabilities which would affect the Commission at the end of June 2022 (2021: None). 
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South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

Notes to the financial statements 

8. Other Disclosures 

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or other pronouncements, for the understanding of this financial report. 

Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 
Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards 
Key management personnel 
Related party transactions 
Related bodies 
Affiliated bodies 
Special purpose accounts 
Remuneration of auditors 
Equity 
Supplementary financial information 
Explanatory statement 

8.1. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 

There were no events occurring after the reporting period date that impact on the financial statements. 

8.2. Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards 

The following standards are operative for reporting periods ended on or after 30 June 2022: 

• AASB 1060- General Purpose Financial Statements- Simplified Disclosures for For-Profit and Not-for-Profit Tier 2 Entities 

• AASB 2020-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Insurance Contracts 

• AASB 2020-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards- Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions: Tier 2 Disclosures 

• AASB 2021-1 -Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Transition to Tier 2: Simplified Disclosures for Not-for-Profit Entities 

• AASB 2021-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 

The Commission considers the above standards do not have a material impact on the financial statements . 

Note 
8.1 
8.2 
8.3 
8.4 
8 .5 
8.6 
8.7 
8.8 
8.9 

8.10 
8.11 
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South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

Notes to the financial statements 

8.3. Key management personnel 

The Commission has determined key management personnel to include the members of the accountable authority, senior officers of the Commission and the Minister 
that the Commission assists. The Commission does not incur expenditures to compensate Ministers and those disclosures may be found in the Annual Report on 
State Finances. 

The total fees , salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for members of the accountable authority and senior officers of the Commission for 
the reporting period are presented within the following bands: 

Compensation band ($) 
Compensation of members of the accountable authority 
70,001 - 80,000 
0 - 10,000 

Compensation of senior officers 
240,001 - 250,000 
170,001 - 180,000 
160,001 - 170,000 
150,001 - 160,000 
140,001 -150,000 
110,001 -120,000 
60,000 - 70,000 
40,001 - 50,000 

Short-term employee benefits 
Post-employment benefits 
Other long-term benefits 

Total compensation for members of the accountable authority and senior officers 

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect of senior officers. 

2022 

1 
5 

1 

1 

1 
1 
1 
1 

2022 
$'000 

724 
76 
56 

856 

2021 

5 

2 
1 

2021 
$'000 

754 
79 
84 

917 
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South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

Notes to the financial statements 

8.4. Related party transactions 

The Commission is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Western Australia . 

Related parties of the Commission include: 

• all cabinet ministers and their close family members, and thei r controlled or jointly controlled entitles; 

• all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities ; 

• other agencies and statutory authorities, including related bodies, that are included in the whole of government consolidated financial statements (i .e. wholly-owned 
public sector entities); 

• associates and joint ventures, of a wholly-owned public sector entity; and 

• the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB). 

Material transactions with other related entities 

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Commission there were no other related party transactions that involved key management personnel and/or their 
close family members and/or their controlled (or jointly controlled) entities. 

8.5. Related bodies 

The Commission had no related bodies during the reporting period. 

8.6. Affiliated bodies 

The Commission had no affiliated bodies during the reporting period. 

8.7. Special purpose accounts 

The Commission had no special purpose accounts during the reporting period. 

8.8. Remuneration of auditors 

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows: 

Auditing the accounts, financial statement controls , and key performance indicators 

2022 
$'000 

The Auditor General has dispensed with the audit for the year ending 30 June 2022 under section 14 of the Auditor General Act 2006. 

2021 
$'000 

28 
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Notes to the financial statements 

8.9. Equity 

Contributed equity 
Balance at start and end of period 

Asset revaluation surplus 
Balance at start of period 
Net revaluation increments /(decrements) 
Land 
Buildings 
Balance at end of period 

8.10. Supplementary financial information 

(a) Write-offs 

There were no write-offs during the financial year. 

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes 

There were no losses of public money and public and other property during the financial year. 

(c) Gift of public property 

There were no gifts of public property during the financial year. 

8.11. Explanatory statement 

South West Development Commission - 30 June 2022 

2022 2021 
$'000 $'000 

23,679 23,679 

10,190 10,051 

660 80 
283 59 

11,133 10,190 

The Commission is exempt from Tl 945 Explanatory Statement as their Total Cost of Services is below $10 million for the two most recent consecutive comparative 
periods. 
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